
OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
BOARD MEETING 

March 18, 2024 
 

Minutes Approved (at next meeting): ________________________________ Page 1                                         

 
Location:  Conference Room F @ 9:00 AM 
Present:  Sign-in sheet attached.    
Time Called to Order: _________ 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  Limited to Agenda Items 
 
 
CONSENT ITEMS: 

Approval of March 18, 2024, Agenda. 
Insurance Authority Board Minutes for January 15, 2024. 
 

 Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 
INFORMATION ITEMS: 
 PFM Presentation – Brian Quinn & Michael Barry 
 
 
ACTION ITEMS: 
 

1. Annual Audit: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve the Ottawa County Insurance Authority Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report for fiscal year 2023. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 

2. Annual Actuarial Report: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve the Ottawa County Insurance Authority Actuarial Report for fiscal 
year 2023. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 

3. Appointment of Officer: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve the appointment of Jon Anderson as Treasurer of the Ottawa 
County Insurance Authority Board. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 

4. Fifth Third Resolution – Authorized Signers: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve and authorize the Secretary, Cheryl Clark, to sign the Fifth Third 
Bank Account Resolution Certificate for Treasury Management Services. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
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5. Fifth Third Resolution – Banking Services: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve and authorize the Secretary, Cheryl Clark, to sign the resolution in 
order to update the signature on the Ottawa County Insurance Authority checks from John Gibbs to 
the Treasurer, Jon Anderson, per the Ottawa County Bylaws, Article IX – Disbursement of Funds. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 

6. Insurance Renewals: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve the purchase and payment of insurance as presented for April 1, 
2024, to April 1, 2025, not to exceed $1,300,000. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 

7. Memorandum of Coverage: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve the Memorandum of Coverage and Rider I effective April 1, 2024, 
to April 1, 2025. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 

8. Legal Services – Post Ratification: 
Suggested Motion:  To ratify and approve the Ottawa County Board of Commissioners’ request for 
legal services for Commissioner Jacob Bonnema by outside legal counsel Michael Homier in the 
case of Hambley v Ottawa County and payment of services provided. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 

9. FOIA Officer: 
Suggested Motion: To appoint Ottawa County Corporation Counsel as FOIA Officer, as 
recommended by the Ottawa County Insurance Authority workgroup and per the authority listed in 
the OCIA Bylaws under Article V, Section 3. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
 
 

10. Closed Session: 
Suggested Motion:  To go into closed session to consult with the attorneys regarding pending 
litigation pursuant to OMA section 8(e) and to invite members of the Insurance Authority work 
group to attend the closed session. 
 

Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried  
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PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
 
 

 DISCUSSION ITEMS:  
1. Report from Work Group 

 
 
 
MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS: 

1. Next meeting: May 20, 2024.  
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 Moved: ___________________ Supported: ___________________ Carried  Not Carried     

 Time: __________ 
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Board Sign in Form 
 
 

Gretchen Cosby  ____________________________________________ 

Sylvia Rhodea   ____________________________________________ 

Joe Moss   ____________________________________________ 

Jon Anderson   ____________________________________________ 

Cheryl Clark   ____________________________________________ 

Gary Rosema   ____________________________________________ 

Guests: 
Ken Bush   ____________________________________________ 

Jack Jordan   ____________________________________________ 

Karen Karasinski  ____________________________________________ 

Steve Kempker  ____________________________________________ 

Doug Van Essen  ____________________________________________ 

Lanae Monera   ____________________________________________ 

Sandra Brinks   ____________________________________________ 

_______________  ____________________________________________ 

_______________  ____________________________________________ 

_______________  ____________________________________________ 

_______________  ____________________________________________ 



OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
BOARD 

January 15, 2024 

Minutes Approved (at next meeting): ________________________________ Page 1 

Location:  Conference Room D @ 9:00 AM 
Present:  Sign-in sheet attached.  
Time Called to Order: 9:05 AM 

PUBLIC COMMENT:  Limited to Agenda Items 
1. Adrea Hill-Holland Township
2. Dan Zimmer-Port Sheldon Township

CONSENT ITEMS: 
Approval of January 15, 2024, Agenda. 
Insurance Authority Board Minutes for December 6, 2023. 

Moved: Cosby, G. Supported: _Rhodea, S.  Carried  Not Carried 

ANNUAL MEETING ITEM: 

1. Election of Officers
Suggested Motion: To approve the election of the following slate of Officers/Board Members: 

Moved  

Chairperson Joe Moss Cosby, G. 

Vice-Chairperson Gretchen Cosby Moss, J. 

Secretary  Cheryl Clark Moss, J. 

Treasurer  John Gibbs Moss, J. 

Director  Gary Rosema Moss, J. 

Director  Sylvia Rhodea Moss, J. 

Moved: Gibbs, J. Supported: Rhodea, S. Carried  Not Carried 

ACTION ITEMS: 

1. Fifth Third Resolution – Authorized Signers:
Suggested Motion:  To approve and authorize the Secretary, Cheryl Clark, to sign the Fifth Third
Bank Account Resolution Certificate for Treasury Management Services.

Moved: Cosby, G.  Supported: Gibbs, J.   Carried  Not Carried 
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2. Fifth Third Resolution – Banking Services: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve and authorize the Secretary, Cheryl Clark, to sign the resolution in 
order to update the signature on the Ottawa County Insurance Authority checks from Amanda 
Price to the Chairperson, Joe Moss, per the Ottawa County Bylaws, Article IX – Disbursement of 
Funds. 
 

Moved: Cosby, G.  Supported: Rhodea, S.  Carried  Not Carried 
 

3. Post Ratification: 
Suggested Motion:  To ratify and approve the County of Ottawa’s request for legal services 
provided to the County Clerk/Register of Deeds by outside counsel Plunkett Cooney in the case of 
Hambley v Ottawa County and payment of services provided. 
 

Moved: Cosby, G.  Supported: Gibbs, J.   Carried  Not Carried 


4. Legal Services: 
Suggested Motion:  To approve the Ottawa County Board of Commissioners’ request to provide 
legal services to Commissioner Jacob Bonnema by outside legal counsel in the case of Hambley v 
Ottawa County and payment of services provided. 
 
Sylvia Rhodea moved to amend the wording of the motion as follows: To approve the Ottawa 
County Board of Commissioners’ request (contingent on approval by the Board of Commissioners) 
to provide legal services to Commissioner Jacob Bonnema by outside legal counsel in the 
evidentiary hearing which is currently scheduled for 1/19/2024 in the case of Hambley v Ottawa 
County and payment of services provided. 
 
Sylvia Rhodea withdrew the motion to amend. 
 
Motion: Table the Legal Services Motion for future meeting. 
 

Moved: Clark, C.   Supported: Rhodea, S.   Carried  Not Carried 
 

5. Closed Session: 
Suggested Motion:  To go into closed session to consult with the attorneys regarding pending 
litigation pursuant to OMA section 8(e). 
 

Moved: Rhodea, S.  Supported: Gibbs, J.    Carried  Not Carried 
 

Roll call vote at 9:50 AM: Yeas: Gretchen Cosby, Sylvia Rhodea, Joe Moss, John Gibbs, Gary Rosema, 
Cheryl Clark (6).  Nays: None (0) 

 
Board entered Closed Session. 
 
Board returned from Closed Session. 
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PUBLIC COMMENT: 

 None 



 DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

1. Report from Work Group Chairperson 
2. Discuss Executive Committee as allowed by Bylaws. Resolution to be reviewed and discussed at 

future meeting. 
 
 
MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS: 

1. Board Members to sign Conflict of Interest. 
2. Board Member to complete W-9. 
3. Next meeting: March 18, 2024.  
4. 2024 Board Meeting Schedule attached. 



ADJOURNMENT 

 Moved: Rhodea, S. Supported: Cosby, G.    Carried  Not Carried     

 Time: 10:25 AM        



Teams
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January 11, 2024

STATEMENT OF ACTUARIAL OPINION  
REGARDING LOSS AND LOSS ADJUSTMENT EXPENSE RESERVES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 

Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority 
 

IDENTIFICATION 

I, Robert W. Van Epps, am a Principal of The Actuarial Advantage, Inc.  I am a Fellow of the 
Casualty Actuarial Society, a Member of the American Academy of Actuaries, and I meet the 
American Academy of Actuaries qualification standards for rendering this Statement of Opinion.  
I have been retained by the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority (the Authority) to 
perform an independent actuarial review of its self-insured liabilities and to provide an Actuarial 
Statement of Opinion on such liabilities as of September 30, 2023. 

The loss and loss adjustment expense reserves are the responsibility of the Authority’s 
management.  I provide input to management and the Board of Directors in the reserve setting 
process.  Company management selects the carried reserves.  My responsibility is to express an 
opinion on those reserves based upon my review. 

SCOPE  

I have examined the reserves listed in Exhibit A, as shown in the Financial Statements of the 
Authority as prepared for filing with state regulatory officials, as of September 30, 2023, and 
reviewed information provided to me through the date of this opinion.  My examination of the 
items listed in Exhibit A reflects the Loss Reserve Disclosure items listed in Exhibit B. 

In forming my opinion on the loss and allocated loss adjustment expense reserves I relied on data 
prepared by Myra Ocasio, Assistant Fiscal Services Director with the Authority and by counsel 
for the Authority.  I evaluated that data for reasonableness and consistency.  In other respects, my 
examination included such review of the actuarial assumptions and methods used and such tests 
of the calculations as I considered necessary.

OPINION 

In my opinion the reserves shown in Exhibit A on account of the items identified:

A. Meet the requirements of the insurance laws of the State of Michigan;

B. Are consistent with reserves computed in accordance with accepted actuarial standards and 
principles; 

C. Are adequate for the payment of losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses for losses 
occurring on or before September 30, 2023 that are covered by the Authority's self- 
insurance program under the terms of its contracts and agreements  

The Opinion rendered above is a “Determination of Reasonable Provision”.   
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The term "adequate for payment of losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses" is used in this 
opinion for purposes of complying with applicable Michigan statutes.  It should be construed to 
mean that the liabilities referenced above, as established by the Authority, are reasonable based on 
our actuarial analysis and the use of accepted actuarial principles and standards of practice.  It 
should not be construed as a warranty or guaranty that actual losses and allocated loss adjustment 
expenses will be less than the established liabilities.  Insurance losses are subject to uncertainty 
and it is possible that actual losses and allocated loss adjustment expenses will vary, perhaps 
significantly, from the liabilities established by the Authority. My conclusion of adequacy is 
subject to the conditions and qualifications contained within this Opinion.

Insurance laws and regulations shall at all times take precedence over the actuarial standards and 
principles.  My review was limited to the items noted above and did not include an analysis of any 
income statement or other balance sheet items.  My opinion on the reserves is based on the 
assumption that all reserves are backed by valid assets, which have suitable scheduled maturities 
and/or adequate liquidity to meet cash flow requirements.

In evaluating whether the reserves make a reasonable provision for unpaid losses and loss 
adjustment expenses it is necessary to project future loss and loss expense emergence and 
payments.  Actual future losses and loss adjustment expenses will not develop exactly as projected 
and may, in fact, vary significantly from the projections.  No warranty is expressed or implied that 
such variance will not occur.

RELEVANT COMMENTS

1.  Risk of Material Adverse Deviation

There is inherent uncertainty in all estimates of future losses.  There are a number of risk factors 
that I have identified as exposing the Authority’s reserves to significant variability.  Specifically, 
these include: 1) the Authority writes coverages that are subject to unpredictable, large losses.  
Since the Authority writes a significant amount of occurrence-based policies, large losses may not 
be reported until well after the end of the policy period and therefore may not be known as of 
September 30, 2023) the Authority writes a relatively low volume of business.  Smaller volumes 
of business often do not provide enough data to be fully credible; 3) the Authority has had 
significant environmental claim costs related to a landfill issue, which is ongoing.  Environmental 
claims are subject to a much greater deal of uncertainty regarding ultimate loss payments.

The absence of other risk factors from those listed above does not imply that additional factors 
will not be identified in the future as having been a significant influence on the Authority’s reserve 
need.  

Although the Authority is subject to the risk factors identified above, I believe there is not a 
significant risk of material adverse deviation in the carried net loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserves for the reviewed items.  For purposes of this opinion, my materiality standard is equal to 
10% of statutory surplus (unrestricted net assets), or $1,967,042. My selection of this materiality 
standard was driven by the fact that this opinion is prepared for the regulatory review of the 
Authority.  Other measures of materiality might be used for reserves that are being evaluated in a 
different context.
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2.  Salvage and Subrogation

The Authority does not reduce its reserves for anticipated salvage and subrogation.  My analysis 
of the reserves has been prepared on the same basis.

3.  Discounting of Reserves

The Authority does not discount its loss and loss adjustment expense reserves.  

4.  Pools and Associations

The Authority represented to us that it does not participate in any voluntary or involuntary pools
or associations.  

5.  Asbestos and Environmental Exposure

The reserve of $22,036,595 established by the Authority includes a provision of $8,000,000 as 
recommended by counsel for the Authority for additional exposure to Environmental Impairment 
Remediation, including defense costs for non-monetary relief claims.  The $8,000,000 represents 
the amount recommended for these claims by the Authority’s counsel on an undiscounted basis 
for these uninsured exposures.

In my opinion it is reasonable and prudent for the Authority to establish liabilities for such 
environmental exposures, especially given the Authority’s history with the SW Landfill 
environmental costs and the understanding that there are likely significant future payments to be 
made to remediate this issue.  These lines of business do not lend themselves to traditional actuarial 
methods and are therefore not actuarially determinable through traditional means.  The 
recommended reserve amount equates to approximately 79 years of payments based on recent 
annual payments for this exposure.  However, the County is aware of likely future payments to be 
made. Because of the risk involved with this exposure, I believe this is a reasonable “survival ratio” 
on which to set reserves.  

6.  Reinsurance

The Authority purchases no reinsurance.  Therefore, reinsurance collectability is not an issue.  

7.  Long Duration Contracts 

The Authority writes no policies or contracts related to single or fixed premium policies with 
coverage periods of thirteen months or greater which are non-cancelable and not subject to 
premium increase (excluding financial guaranty contracts, mortgage guaranty policies, and surety 
contracts).

8.  Subsequent Events

The Authority informed us of a landscaping/vegetation claim that was reported after September 
30, 2023.  The claim is expected to result in a loss of over $150,000. We consider this to be a 
material subsequent event.  As a result, we have recommended the Authority include the $500,000 
reserve recommended by their counsel for landscaping and vegetation related claims.  Generally, 
we would consider this a contingency-type of reserve and would not include it in our recommended 
reserve indication.  However, with the knowledge of the claim reported after September 30, 2023, 
we are including it this year. 
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9.  Methods and Assumptions

There have been no significant changes in the actuarial assumptions and/or methods from those 
employed in our analysis of the September 30, 2022 loss and loss adjustment expense reserves.

10.  COVID-19

The impact of COVID-19 on future claim payments is still highly uncertain.  There has been 
limited COVID-19 impact on the Company to-date.  No explicit adjustments were made to our 
analysis to contemplate the possible impact of COVID-19 on future claims.

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS AND USAGE

An actuarial report and underlying work papers supporting the findings expressed in this Statement 
of Actuarial Opinion, will be provided to the Authority by May 30, 2024 to be retained for a period 
of seven years in the administrative offices of the Company and available for regulatory 
examination.

This opinion is provided for regulatory purposes only and is not intended for any other purpose.

__________________________________
Robert W. Van Epps, FCAS, MAAA
The Actuarial Advantage, Inc.
706 Northeast Drive, Suite 4
Davidson, NC  28036
(704) 895-9765
rvanepps@taa-inc.com 
January 11, 2024
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Exhibit A: SCOPE

Column 1
Loss Reserves Amount

1.  Reserve for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
As presented in the Authority’s year-end financial statement $22,036,595

2.  Retroactive Reinsurance Reserve Assumed $0

3.  Other Loss Reserve items on which the Appointed Actuary
is expressing an Opinion None

Premium Reserves

4.  Reserve for Net Unearned Premiums for Long Duration Contracts $0

5.  Other Premium Reserve items on which the Appointed Actuary
is expressing an Opinion None
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Exhibit B: DISCLOSURES

Item Column 1  Column 2 Column 3 Column 4

1.  Name of the Appointed Actuary       Van Epps      Robert           W.       

2.  The Appointed Actuary’s Relationship to the Company.      C
      Enter E or C based upon the following:
           E if an Employee
          C  if a Consultant     

3.  The Appointed Actuary has the following designation:      F
           F if a Fellow of the Casualty Actuarial Society (FCAS)
           A if an Associate of the Casualty Actuarial Society 

(ACAS)
           M if not a member of the Casualty Actuarial Society,
                but a Member of the American Academy of
                Actuaries (MAAA) approved by the Casualty
                Practice Council, as documented with the attached
                Approval letter.
           O for Other     

4.  Type of Opinion, as identified in the OPINION 
          paragraph.  Enter R, I, E, Q, or N based upon the following:     R
          R if Reasonable
          I if Inadequate or Deficient Provision
          E if Excessive or Redundant Provision
          Q if Qualified.  Use Q when part of the OPINION is 

Qualified
          N if No Opinion     

5.  Materiality Standard expressed in $US
  (Used to Answer Question #6)    $1,967,042

6.  Are there significant risks that could result in
      Material Adverse Deviation?             Yes[  ]  No[X]  Not Applicable[  ]

7.  Statutory Surplus           $19,670,422



Authorized Signer’s                                                                Fifth Third Bank National Association    April 2021 

 

Important Information about the Purpose of this Document 
This AUTHORIZED SIGNER’S RESOLUTION template is intended to identify the individual(s) authorized to take specific actions necessary for carrying out 
provisions of any such agreement which may include, but is not limited to, communicating, transacting, transferring, buying/selling, and assigning securities and 
transmitting instructions to Fifth Third Bank, N.A. regarding the investment and/or distribution of assets.  The resolution should identify by name, title and 
signature, the individual(s) transacting on the account(s) with Fifth Third Bank, N.A.    
 
The resolution should be authorized by an individual listed on the CERTIFICATE OF RESOLUTION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SIGN AGREEMENTS WITH 
FIFTH THIRD BANK, N.A. (or like document), stating who is authorized to enter into agreements and sign on behalf of the Entity.  (Examples of ‘CERTIFICATE 
OF RESOLUTION – like’ documents include, but are not limited to partnership agreement, by–laws, corporate resolution, board resolution, etc.) 
 
You may in the future add, subtract, or replace the individual(s) who is/are authorized signers for day-to-day duties by supplying a new AUTHORIZED SIGNER’S 
RESOLUTION or other applicable documentation to supersede the most recent AUTHORIZED SIGNER’S RESOLUTION.   
 
The United States Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, P.L. 106-229 (the “E-Sign Act”) applies to the fullest extent possible to this 
document.  The Entity represents, warrants and covenants that the electronic signatures submitted by the Entity to Fifth Third Bank, N.A. on this document are 
created using software and processes that create valid, enforceable, and effective electronic signatures in compliance with the E-Sign Act and all applicable state 
laws including applicable Uniform Electronic Transactions Act(s). All questions regarding the validity of the electronic signatures on this document shall be 
governed by the E-Sign Act or, to the extent applicable, by the laws of the State of Ohio, including the Ohio Uniform Transactions Act, OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 
1306.01-23., et seq. 
 
NOTE: This document is separate and distinct from the CERTIFICATE OF RESOLUTION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SIGN AGREEMENTS WITH FIFTH THIRD 
BANK, N.A.. The CERTIFICATE OF RESOLUTION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SIGN AGREEMENTS WITH FIFTH THIRD BANK, N.A. is required and only 
identifies the individual(s) who can enter into and execute agreements with Fifth Third Bank,N.A., and appoint others to act on behalf of the Entity. 
 
All contact information must be entered if a name appears in the ‘Name, Title’ textbox. 
 
For the purposes of this form, the following definitions apply: 
 

• Communication authorization (Com) – individual is authorized to communicate with the bank.  Examples include individual can accept call backs to verify 
money movement instructions, obtain cash balances, obtain position information.  

 
• Trade authorization (Trade) – individual is authorized to purchase or sell securities into or out of the account(s). 

 
• Cash/Asset movement (Cash/Asset) – individual is authorized to instruct the movement of cash and assets in the following manner: account to account 

transfer (if applicable), wire transfers, checks and ACH transfers and delivery of assets.   
 

• Fifth Third Direct Channel Administrator (Adm) – individual is authorized to act as Channel Administrator with regard to Fifth Third Direct portal activities. 
Please retain a copy of the documentation that you supply to Fifth Third Bank, N.A. and this page for your files.  
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AUTHORIZED SIGNER’S RESOLUTION 

 

Effective      , 20     , the following individual(s) is/are duly authorized representative(s) of the       [Name of Entity] to take all actions necessary to perform 
day-to-day duties by providing Fifth Third Bank National Association (Fifth Third Bank, N.A.) with direction for the daily administration and operation of the       
[Name of Entity, Trust or Plan].  The individual(s) listed below may provide information and direction, but not limited to, trust and/or plan, participants, accounts, 
contributions, investments, trust and/or plan assets, participant loans and distributions.  The extent to authorize is further indicated beside each signature.   This 
Resolution supersedes any prior Resolutions or other documentation with respect to providing authorization for day-to-day duties.   

If this resolution is for a specific account(s) enter the account title(s) or 14-digit account number(s) on the following line(s).  If this resolution is for all accounts 
within the relationship, leave the following line(s) blank. 

      

      

      

Number of signatures required on an Instruction based on the Entity’s governing document (Unless otherwise noted, only one signature will be required.):        

   X ALL THAT APPLY 
Name Title Email and Phone Number Com Trade Cash/Asset Adm 
Joe Moss 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson jmoss@miottawa.org     

Cheryl Clark 
 
 
 
 

Secretary cclark@miottawa.org 
616-994-4503 

    

      
 
 
 
 

Treasurer           

   X ALL THAT APPLY 
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Name Title Email and Phone Number Com Trade Cash/Asset Adm 
Karen Karasinski 
 
 
 
 
 

Fiscal Services Director kkarasinski@miottawa.org 
616-738-4849 

    

Sandra Brinks 
 
 
 
 
 

Budget Audit Analyst sbrinks@miottawa.org 
616-738-4842 
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In accordance with the governing resolution for Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority (Entity Name), I/We certify this document is true and correct 
and that all persons listed on this resolution are authorized to act according to the capacity(ies) identified beside their name, signature and title. 

 
 
 
________________________________________________________  03/18/24 
Signature        Date (MM/DD/YYYY) 
 
 
Cheryl Clark Print Name 
 
 
Secretary, Ottawa County Michigan Insurance Authority Title 
 
 
 
Second Signature if applicable 
 
 
________________________________________________________        
Signature        Date (MM/DD/YYYY) 
 
 
      
Print Name 
 
 
      
Title 
 



 
 

Certificate of Resolution                               Fifth Third Bank National Association April 2021 

 

 
IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THIS RESOLUTION 

 
Fifth Third Bank, National Association (Fifth Third Bank, N.A.) has agreed to provide trust, agency, investment management, custodial 
services, retirement plan, or nonqualified plan services for your “Entity” (Company, Organization, and Governmental), trust and/or plan. 
The purpose of this CERTIFICATE OF RESOLUTION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SIGN AGREEMENTS WITH FIFTH THIRD BANK, 
N.A. is to identify the name(s) and title(s) of the individual(s) who is/are authorized to enter into agreements with Fifth Third Bank, N.A. 
and may appoint others who can act on behalf of an Entity to provide direction to Fifth Third Bank, N.A. to perform the applicable 
services identified in the signed agreement.  
  
The resolution should identify by name and title the individual(s) who is/are authorized to sign the applicable agreement(s) and/or 
document(s) that is/are being entered into between the Entity and Fifth Third Bank, N.A..  You may provide Fifth Third Bank, N.A. with 
other documentation to identify the individual(s) who is/are authorized to execute an agreement if it includes the relevant 
information.  Examples include, but are not limited to, bylaws, limited liability operating agreements, corporate resolutions, incumbency 
certificates, board resolutions, applicable sections of board minutes signed by the Corporate Secretary, partnership agreements, and 
other documents that identify who can sign and execute agreements, etc.  Adoption of these documents may be evidenced by a 
certificate signed by the Corporate Secretary or other officer or authorized individual(s), or by signature of all the members of the 
adopting Entity. Governmental entities may contain signing authority within their state code, verifiable through the internet.   
 
You may in the future add or replace the individual(s) who is/are authorized to enter into agreements with Fifth Third Bank, N.A. and/or 
provide direction to Fifth Third Bank, N.A. by supplying a new CERTIFICATE OF RESOLUTION or other applicable documentation to 
supersede the most recent CERTIFICATE OF RESOLUTION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SIGN AGREEMENTS WITH FIFTH THIRD 
BANK, N.A..   
 
The United States Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, P.L. 106-229 (the “E-Sign Act”) applies to the fullest 
extent possible to this document.  The Entity represents, warrants and covenants that the electronic signatures submitted by the Entity 
to Fifth Third Bank, N.A. on this document are created using software and processes that create valid, enforceable, and effective 
electronic signatures in compliance with the E-Sign Act and all applicable state laws including applicable Uniform Electronic 
Transactions Act(s). All questions regarding the validity of the electronic signatures on this document shall be governed by the E-Sign 
Act or, to the extent applicable, by the laws of the State of Ohio, including the Ohio Uniform Transactions Act, OHIO REV. CODE ANN. 
§ 1306.01-23., et seq. 
 
 
NOTE: This CERTIFICATE OF RESOLUTION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO SIGN AGREEMENTS WITH FIFTH THIRD BANK, N.A. is 
separate and distinct from the AUTHORIZED SIGNER’S RESOLUTION. The AUTHORIZED SIGNER’S RESOLUTION is required and 
it identifies the individual(s) who can take all actions necessary to perform day-to-day duties by providing Fifth Third Bank, N.A. with 
direction for the daily administration and operation of the Entity. 
 
Please retain a copy of the documentation that you supply to Fifth Third Bank, N.A. and this page for your files. 
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CERTIFICATE OF RESOLUTION 
For Authorization to Sign Agreements with Fifth Third Bank, National Association 

(Fifth Third Bank, N.A.) 
 
Effective March 18, 2024, the following individual(s) is/are duly authorized representative(s) of Ottawa County Michigan 
Insurance Authority [Name of Entity] to enter into and execute the applicable agreement(s) and other documents or instructions 
with Fifth Third Bank, N.A. as may be required from time to time to provide trust, agency, investment management, custodial services, 
qualified retirement plan and/or nonqualified plan services for the Ottawa County Michigan Insurance Authority Name of 
Entity, Trust or Plan]. In addition, individual(s) listed below is/are duly authorized to appoint other individuals to perform day-to-day 
duties with respect to Fifth Third Bank, N.A.’s services. This Certificate supersedes any prior resolutions or other documentation with 
respect to providing authorization to sign agreements with Fifth Third Bank, N.A. 
 
Number of signatures required on an Agreement based on the Entity’s governing document (Unless otherwise noted, only one  
 
signature will be required.):        
 

Name Title DOB 

Joe Moss 
 
 
 
 

Chairperson       

Cheryl Clark 
 
 
 
 
 

Secretary       

Jon Anderson 
 
 
 
 
 

Treasurer       

      
 
 
 
 
 

            

      
 
 
 
 
 

            

 
 
 



Certificate of Resolution  April 2021 

 

 
 
 
 
I, Cheryl Clark (Name of Person), Secretary (Title of Person) of Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority (Name of 
Entity), a Authority (Company, Corporation, Organization, Trust or Plan) duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
Michigan, hereby certify that the above is a true copy of a resolution adopted by the governing body of this Entity at a meeting held 
on 03/18/24 (Month/Day/Year) and that such resolution is now in full force and effect and is pursuant to the Entity’s governing 
documents. 
 
      Signature:     _____________________________________________ 
 
 
      Name:  Cheryl Clark 
 
 
      Title:  Secretary, Ottawa County Insurance Authority 
 
       

Date:    03/18/2024  
 

Note: The person providing the above certification cannot authorize themself as the only authorized signer unless the Entity is a single 
member limited liability company or sole proprietorship. 
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risk financing analysts, l.l.c. 
3014 faye drive 

port hope, mi 48468-9373 
riskfinancinganalysts@gmail.com 

telephone:  (989) 315-8031   facsimile:  (484) 340-4963 

14 March 2024 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority 
12220 Fillmore Street 
West Olive, Michigan 49460 
 
 
Dear Directors: 
 
SUBJECT:  Commercial Insurance Renewals for 2024-25 
 
The insurance market continues in a “hard” state, although there is some easing 
in rate increases.  Some of our renewals are quite reasonable, not reflecting the 
general 8% to 10% increases that we generally see in the industry.  In fact, the 
renewal premium for one coverage line has declined.  We discuss each proposed 
renewal, and refer you to a table of proposed renewal premiums on page. 

COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 

A final renewal proposal has not yet been received, but the underwriter advised 
our agent that the renewal should be at an increase of 3% for updated values 
and 3% for changes in rates.  Our incumbent insurer, Affiliated FM, has been a 
good insurer for us, responding appropriately in the few instances when we have 
had claims.  It also has provided prompt loss control advice for specific 
situations.  As a subsidiary of Factory Mutual Insurance Company, Affiliated FM 
has access to extensive loss prevention research and testing.  The proposed 
renewal does not include the justice center building now under construction.  
This building will be added to the Authority’s Property policy when a certificate 
of occupancy is received.  The estimated renewal premium is about $166,000, 
but we recommend that the approval be at $170,000 in the event that there are 
any underwriting adjustments. 

BUILDERS’ RISK 

The justice center building now under construction is insured under a Builders’ 
Risk policy since construction inception in June 2022.  The policy, issued by 
The Hanover Insurance Company, was extended once from its initial 31 
December 2023 expiration to 1 April of this year.  When the Building Authority 
determined that a certificate of occupancy would not be received by 1 April, it 
requested a policy extension until 15 May.  The insurer has agreed to this 
extension, but has not yet provided a premium for this additional coverage 
period.  We estimate that it will not exceed $4,000. 
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AUTOMOBILE 

The number of insurers willing to cover public entities is quite limited, and the 
number of insurers willing to cover a substantial fleet of emergency vehicles is 
even smaller.  Our current insurer has offered a renewal option at the same 
terms and conditions at a $9,500 reduction in premium; our current limit is 
$1,000,000 per accident, with Personal Injury Protection and Property Protection 
“No-Fault” coverages as required by law. 
 
In 2021, Michigan law regarding Personal Injury Protection medical expense 
benefits was changed.  One of the changes was to allow the selection of a medical 
expense limit of less than “unlimited.”  Another change was how Personal Injury 
Protection benefits apply to occupants of a covered automobile.  The exposure of 
medical expenses for inmates and guests transported in County-owned autos 
now is that of Personal Injury Protection coverage available through those 
persons’ personal auto policies or the state-operated assigned claims fund. 
 
Therefore, the exposure for injury to the occupants of County autos is limited 
primarily to injury to County officials, officers, and employees.  That exposure is 
further limited in that Workers’ Disability Compensation applies first to scope-
of-duty auto accidents.  Since Workers’ Compensation medical expenses are 
unlimited, there is virtually no situation in which Personal Injury Protection 
medical benefits would apply to an occupational injury.  An overwhelming 
majority, if not all, collisions involving County-owned autos are scope-of-duty 
situations, there is almost no medical expense that would be payable by our 
insurer.  In the very unlikely event that there is personal use of a County auto, 
the County’s health coverage applies to medical expenses in excess of any 
Personal Injury Protection medical expense insurance. 
 
Our recommendation, therefore, is to renew with National Union Fire of 
Pittsburgh, PA, at the same Liability limit, but with a Personal Injury Protection 
medical expense limit of $500,000.  The reduction in premium from the renewal 
offered on the same terms and conditions is about $20,300, or $129,262. 

LAWYERS PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY 
We purchase from NLADA Mutual essentially “first dollar” Professional Liability 
insurance for the employed indigent defense lawyers.  To date, a renewal 
proposal has not been received.  Inasmuch as there has been a claim, and given 
the current state of the insurance market, we estimate that the renewal premium 
for the same coverages as are provided by the expiring policy will not be greater 
than 115% of expiring premium, or $12,300. 
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EXCESS LIABILITY 

The premium for Excess Liability insurance now is the greatest commercial 
insurance cost for the Authority.  The expiring policy, issued by The Princeton 
Excess and Surplus lines, provides four towers of Liability coverage, each with 
its own $5,000,000 limit, General Liability (including Law Enforcement), 
Automobile Liability, Errors or Omissions Liability (Public Officials or 
Employment Practices), and Miscellaneous Professional Liability (for employed 
medical professionals).  A $1,500,000 retained limit applies to each loss. 
 
At the 2022 renewal, the “hard” insurance market was well underway, and our 
premium for the first $5,000,000 layer of coverage went from about $200,000 to 
nearly $525,000.  The “hard” market continued into the 2023 renewal (and 
continues today), with another proposed premium increase of over $60,000.  In 
order to ameliorate the increasing costs, a $1,500,000 retained limit was chosen.  
We also engaged a third-party claim administrator to gather loss and reserve 
information; this engagement accomplished two things:  First, the compilation 
of loss and reserve information by a recognized claim administration firm gives 
more credibility to our data in the eyes of underwriters.  Second, since the claim 
administrator was engaged to provide data on events which fell within the scope 
of the Excess Liability policy coverage language, our event frequency went 
down.  In prior years, virtually every event, regardless of whether within the 
scope of excess policy language was reported, which gave underwriters the 
impression that we had far more potential claims than we actually had. 
 
Unfortunately, underwriters read and watch the news, and the recent 
happenings in Ottawa County did not escape their attention.  It is virtually 
impossible to control what the news media show, but underwriters were aware 
of Ottawa County activity.  As respects one claim, mostly resolved, it was 
appropriate to report the matter to the insurer because the loss amount might 
ultimately have exceeded the reporting threshold, half of the retained limit.  Had 
the event not been reported and had a covered loss exceeded the retained limit, 
the insurer might well have denied coverage based upon the failure to comply 
with the policy reporting condition. 
 
Our proposed renewal at the same liability and retained limits is estimated to be 
about 15% greater for the upcoming coverage year, or about $597,600, including 
surplus lines tax; the final proposal has not yet been received.  An alternative at 
a $2,000,000 retention is estimated to be $551,450, including tax.  We 
recommend that this option be selected for some of the same reasons that we 
increased retained limits in the past:  A higher retained limit moves the insurer 
farther from becoming involved in our claims.  A $2,000,000 retained limit is 
nearly ten times greater than the largest claim which the Insurance Authority 
has ever paid in its 30-year history; one of the reasons for the Authority’s 
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formation was to keep insurer involvement in claim defense to a minimum.  The 
premium reduction to move from a $1,500,000 retained limit to a $2,000,000 
retained limit is over $46,000. 

EXCESS LIABILITY, SECOND LAYER 

The Authority has purchased a $10,000,000 liability limit, previously in a single 
layer, but more recently in two layers as insurers no longer offered limits greater 
than $5,000,000.  A renewal proposal was received for $5,000,000 excess of the 
first layer $5,000,000 limits and its $1,500,000 retained limit at an estimated 
premium of $235,750, including surplus lines tax.  That premium likely would 
go down slightly with the increase of the first layer policy retained limit to 
$2,000,000. 
 
However, considering that no loss has ever in the Authority’s history exceeded 
the first layer/underlying policy retained limit, and considering that the 
Authority has excess funds available, including those which now are on deposit 
with the Michigan state treasurer, we think that it is a worthwhile risk to assume 
liability in excess of the underlying policy.  We therefore recommend that the 
excess layer not be purchased. 

CRIME 

A renewal proposal for $3,000,000 limits of Employee Theft, Computer Fraud, 
and Funds Transfer Fraud coverages is offered at $5,167; the Employee Faithful 
Performance of Duty limit is $1,000,000, which is the most that virtually any 
insurer will write for this exposure.  A $100,000 deductible applies.  The 
Travelers coverage form is very broad, and offers some features that other 
insurers do not.  We requested a three-year proposal, but Travelers declined to 
offer such a proposal.  We recommend renewal with Travelers. 

PRIVACY-CYBER LIABILITY 
Coverage has been provided by Beazley, a premier insurer of these exposures.  
There are multiple limits provided by the policy:  First, the expenses of providing 
statutorily-required notices of breaches or suspected breaches of personally-
identifiable information is covered up to the costs incurred to provide notices to 
1,000,000 persons, without dollar limit.  Second, the costs of legal, forensic, and 
public relations expenses related to a breach or suspected breach are covered to 
$1,000,000.  Third, a policy aggregate limit of $1,000,000, which does not apply 
to the two items noted above, covers third-party liability, ransomware, data 
restoration, and other expenses.  While these limits might seem low, the 
Authority provides excess limits up to its $30,000,000 coverage year aggregate 
limit. 
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The insurer has again offered a renewal proposal at no increase in premium over 
the past two years, $55,971.  This is quite surprising, since the increase in 
ransomware demands in 2023 over 2022 has been substantial.  It seems likely 
to us that the next renewal will not be as attractive.  This unchanged premium 
reflects the insurer’s confidence in the County’s protective software and 
procedures.  We recommend acceptance of the Beazley renewal proposal. 

RENEWAL PREMIUM COMPARISION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Coverage 2023-24 Premiums Proposed 2024-25 Premiums 
Property $156,250 Estimated $170,000 
Builders’ Risk 6,6141 Estimated 4,000 
Automobile 156,024 129,2622 

Lawyers Professional Liability 10,712 Estimated 12,300 
Excess Liability 523,263 Estimated $551,4503 

Crime 5,125 5,167 
Privacy-Cyber Liability 55,971 55,971 
Estimated Total: $910,9594 Estimated $928,150 

 
Notes: 

1. Premium for policy extension to 1 April 2024 
2. Premium with unlimited Personal Injury Protection medical expense:  

$146,575. 
3. Estimated premium with $1,500,000 retained limit, including surplus 

lines tax:  $597,600. 
4. Initial Builders’ Risk policy premium of $37,610 paid in 2022-23 coverage 

year. 
 
Sincerely yours, 
 
Kenneth Bush, A.R.M., C.P.C.U. 
Managing Member 
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12 March 2024 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority 
12220 Fillmore Street, Room 331 
West Olive, Michigan 49460-9672 
 
 
Dear Directors: 
 
SUBJECT: Memorandum of Coverage 

The Memorandum of Coverage is the document which the Insurance Authority 
issues to the two Participating Public Entities, the County of Ottawa and the 
Ottawa County Building Authority.  This document is required by law, and is 
reissued each year because of changes in coverages offered, program 
administration policies, and limits afforded.  The Memorandum for the 2024-25 
coverage period is included in your meeting packet. 
 
Aside from the changes in dates, there are several other proposed changes of 
importance.  These changes are identified in red type, and are described below: 
 

· Sub-Section II.B., Additional Coverages and Coverage Extensions, 6., 
Exclusions, page 3, is amended by itemizing into separate lettered 
paragraphs a. through c, without any language change.  Paragraph d. is 
added for the situation where there is loss of or damage to trees or plants, 
such as Parks experienced when excess water made its way to a Parks 
property and caused substantial damage to trees.  This paragraph 
excludes damage to such trees and plants, except when caused by a 
specified peril, and to a $250,000 limit.  In order for this coverage to apply, 
there must be a minimum of 10 trees or plans which sustain damage.  
There is an exception for Landscaping Plants, as defined. 
 
Most commercial Property policies exclude damage to growing plants, 
trees, shrubs, or lawns, except for loss by a specified peril, and then to a 
low sub-limit of $10,000 or $25,000.  Our Property policy excludes loss 
to standing timber by any peril.  The provision specified above is generous 
by any commercial insurance standards. 
 

· Sub-Section II.B., Additional Coverages and Coverage Extensions, 7.,, 
pages 3 and 4, Automobile Uninsured Motorists and Watercraft Uninsured 
Boaters has been amended to clarify that injury to an occupant of a 
County-owned watercraft which arises out of a collision caused by another 



watercraft operator is covered to the same $100,000 limit as applicable to 
Automobile Uninsured Motorists coverage. 
 

· Sub-Section II.B., Additional Coverages and Coverage Extensions, 12., 
page 5, amends the provision of Authority-selected legal counsel expenses 
to the actions of formal administrative or formal regulatory proceedings, 
such as those of the Judicial Tenure Commission.  This clarifies the 
situations in which the Authority will provide such counsel. 
 

· Sub-Section II.C., Definitions, 6., Landscaping Plants, page 8, is added to 
clarify what plants, shrubs, or trees are covered by exception to Sub-
Section II.B.6., Exclusions.  
 

· Section VI., Claims Procedure, has two changes.  One is to make reporting 
requirements uniform as to when such reports are due, which is promptly.  
Prior Memoranda required some matters to be reported promptly and 
others to be reported as soon as practicable.  Uniform language should 
make this Section easier to understand and to follow. 
 
An additional reporting item, VI.C., requires reporting of events, 
omissions, etc. regardless of whether a claim has been brought.  This 
requirement will give Insurance Authority defense counsel the opportunity 
to investigate such matters in order to be prepared to defend any claim 
that might arise.  It also allows for the establishment of an incident file to 
which investigation or other expenses can be associated.  Considering that 
events which occur today might not result in claims until years from now, 
defense counsel should be afforded the opportunity to gather as much 
information as it can in the event that claims are brought. 
 

· It is very possible that Section IV., Insurance Purchased and 
Deductibles/Retentions, will have to be amended at the next meeting of 
the Insurance Authority Board of Directors.  We do not as yet have the first 
layer Excess Liability policy terms, which might require an increase in 
the retention or other provisions. 
 

Rider 1 continues to cover the situation in which another driver or auto owner 
is responsible for collision damage to a County auto, but refuses to or cannot 
pay the required “mini-tort” damages.  In such circumstances, the Authority 
covers the collision loss, the deductible notwithstanding. 

 
Sincerely yours, 
 
Kenneth Bush, A.R.M., C.P.C.U. 
Managing Member 
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MEMORANDUM OF COVERAGE 

 
I. PERIOD OF COVERAGE 

This Memorandum, issued by the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance 
Authority (“Authority”), covers occurrences, events, injury, damage, errors or 
omissions that take place during the period of April 1, 2024 at 12:01 a.m., 
local time, through April 1, 2025 at 12:01 a.m., local time ("Coverage Period").  
This Memorandum also covers certain claims which are brought during the 
Coverage Period and which are covered by an Additional Coverage and 
Coverage Extension, Section II.B., identified as “Claims-Made.” 

 
II. A. COVERAGE PROVISION 

For occurrences, events, injury, damage, errors, omissions, or claims, subject 
to the provisions of Section I, the Authority will assume responsibility to the 
Entities the following coverages: 
 

Coverage 
Real and Personal Property Direct Damage, Extra Expense, and Business Income 
Excess Employers’ Liability 
Bodily Injury, Property Damage, Personal Injury, Advertising Injury, Employee 
Benefits Errors or Omissions, Other Errors or Omissions Liability 
Automobile Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability 
Automobile Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists 
Watercraft Uninsured Boaters 
Michigan Personal Injury Protection 
Michigan Property Protection 
Automobile and Boat Physical Damage 
Public Employee Theft and Faithful Performance of Duty 
Computer Theft/Electronic Funds Transfer Fraud/Forgery or Alteration/Loss of 
Money and Securities/Money Orders and Counterfeit Money/Social Engineering 
Fraud 
Privacy and Electronic Information Liability 

 
 The Authority may purchase insurance as described in Section IV. to satisfy 

all or any portion of its obligations above. 
 
 The Authority’s responsibility for any loss covered within the Coverage Period 

shall not exceed any limits specified in Sub-Section B., Additional Coverages 
& Coverage Extensions, or an aggregate limit per Coverage Period of 
$30,000,000.  This limitation shall not apply to loss resulting from direct 
damage to Real or Personal Property or to Automobile or Boat Physical 
Damage.  Further, this limitation shall not apply to any amounts paid to or 
on behalf of the Entities.  Recoveries for loss, damage, or injury received by 
the Entities shall be applied so as to reinstate this limit to the extent of such 
recoveries. 
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The coverage provided by the Authority is subject to the same exclusions, 
limitations, and restrictions as the insurance policies which the Authority 
purchases, except as respects limits, and except as specifically provided in 
Additional Coverages & Coverage Extensions included in Section II.B. and 
Riders attached to this Memorandum. 
 

 The Authority’s responsibility for any loss arising out of the acts, errors, or 
omissions of any volunteer medical or dental provider is limited to $100,000.  
This amount is part of, not in addition to, the Authority’s $30,000,000 limit 
for any covered loss. 
 
 

 B. ADDITIONAL COVERAGES & COVERAGE EXTENSIONS 

  1. Remediation—“Claims-Made” 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage for Remedia-
tion is added.  This Additional Coverage applies to claims made during the 
Coverage Period. 

  2. Automobile and Watercraft Physical Damage 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage for physical 
damage to and emergency road service required by automobiles or water-
craft owned or hired by the Entities ("Covered Automobiles") is added.  Loss 
to Covered Automobiles, which results from sudden, accidental events, is 
covered to the lesser of the cost of repairs or the cost of replacement, less 
any salvage amount received.  Emergency road service benefits will be the 
amount charged by the County-selected emergency road service provider. 

A Collision loss deductible of $3,000 shall apply to each Covered Automo-
bile.  No deductible shall apply to physical damage to watercraft. 

  3. Michigan Special Tort Liability 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage for property 
damage liability arising out of a collision in Michigan of an automobile 
owned or hired by the Entities is added. The limit payable per loss is the 
lesser of $3,000 or the uninsured damages. 

  4. Interruption of Incoming Services 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
cover physical damage to or loss of property owned by the Entities and extra 
expense or loss of income incurred by the Entities caused directly by the 
whole or partial lack of the incoming utility services, by reason of accidental 
occurrence to the facilities of the suppliers of the utility services.  The oc-
currence must result from a peril insured against by the real and personal 
property insurance policy purchased by the Authority. 
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  5. Deductibles 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is added for 
all deductibles or retentions incurred by the Entities under the policies pur-
chased by the Authority pursuant to Section IV. of this Memorandum. 
However, this Section does not extend coverage to personal property owned 
by Covered Persons, unless any of the Entities is legally liable for damage 
to or loss of such personal property or such personal property is damaged 
or destroyed concurrently with real and/or personal property owned by any 
of the Entities, and covered damage to Entity’s(ies’) property exceeds the 
applicable deductible. 

  6. Exclusions 

a. Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is 
excluded if the defense is provided or loss covered by other casualty, 
property, or surety insurance purchased for the Entities pursuant to 
Section IV or by any of the Entities. 

b. Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is 
added for any occurrence, accident, or public official's errors or omis-
sion, which would otherwise be covered by a property, casualty, or 
surety insurance policy, purchased for any of the Entities pursuant 
to Section IV or by any of the Entities, but which is excluded due to 
a specific exclusion in any such policy.  "Occurrence," "accident," and 
"public official's errors or omissions" as used herein shall have the 
same definitions as stated in the insurance policies purchased pur-
suant to Section IV of this Memorandum or by any of the Entities. 

c. Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is 
added for any direct physical loss or damage to real or personal prop-
erty of the Entities to the extent such loss or damage is to the type of 
real property or building which is excluded by the property insurance 
policy purchased for the Entities pursuant to Section IV of this Mem-
orandum. 

d. Sections II.B.7.a. through II.B.7.c. notwithstanding, coverage 
for any direct physical loss or damage to trees or plants, other than 
Landscaping Plants, is limited to $250,000 per occurrence for loss 
caused by wind, fire, lightning, hail, aircraft, vandalism, or automo-
biles.  Loss to fewer than 10 trees or plants in any one occurrence is 
not covered. 

  7. Automobile Uninsured Motorists and Watercraft Uninsured Boaters 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is added for 
bodily injury damages sustained by those who occupy vehicles owned or 
rented by the Entities and who sustain such injury as the result of an acci-
dent for which an uninsured motorist or underinsured motorist is 50% or 
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more at fault.  Covered damages are limited to those collectible under Mich-
igan Automobile Residual Liability Insurance, and may be modified by com-
parative negligence.  For the purpose of this Section, an underinsured mo-
torist is a motorist who carries insurance in sufficient limits and types to 
meet minimum statutory requirements, but who carries insufficient limits 
to cover the damages for which he/she is responsible. 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is added for 
bodily injury damages sustained by those who occupy watercraft owned or 
rented by the Entities and who sustain bodily injury as the result of an 
accident for which an uninsured or underinsured watercraft is responsible, 
as might be modified by comparative negligence. 

The maximum payable per person per accident is $100,000.  These 
amounts are payable in addition to amounts, if any, collected from an at-
fault motorist, at-fault boater, or other sources including, but not limited 
to, Workers’ Disability Compensation or any salary/wage continuation ben-
efit. 

The Authority will make the final determination as to eligibility for and 
amount of any benefit payable under this Additional Coverage. 

  8. Casualty 

Pursuant to Section I and II of this Memorandum, coverage extends to any 
Casualty. 

  9. Kidnap/Ransom and Extortion 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
indemnify any of the Entities for loss of ransom monies resulting from any 
kidnapping or alleged kidnapping of any Covered Person, physical or elec-
tronic (including, but not limited to digital) extortion demand, and detention 
and hijack, in transit/delivery, or through ransomware, including legal lia-
bility arising out of any of the foregoing. 
 
The term Covered Person as respects Section II.B.9 is extended to include 
guests.  Coverage for guests is limited to events which occur while a guest 
is on or about locations owned or operated by any of the Entities, or while 
in the company of an official, officer, employee, or volunteer of any Entity. 
 
The Authority shall have the right and duty to defend any claim alleging 
that any one or more of the Entities is/are liable for damages arising out of 
or in any way related to an event covered by this overage provision. 
 
If disclosure of information is done by a third party which is required by 
contract to keep such information confidential, coverage applies in excess 
of insurance and/or indemnity provided by that third party. 
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Coverage is also extended to include fines, penalties, and notification ex-
penses. 
 
Any event which might be covered under this overage provision shall be 
promptly reported to an appropriate law enforcement agency. 
 
Knowledge of the existence of this coverage provision shall be limited, inso-
far as is permitted by applicable law, to those who have the need to know 
of this coverage. 
 

  10. Defense Costs for Non-Monetary Relief Claims--“Claims-Made” 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
the defense costs of claims made against any of the Entities during the Cov-
erage Period specified in Section I seeking non-monetary or injunctive relief, 
either as a part of or independent of claims seeking monetary relief. 

  11. Defense Costs for Non-Covered But Coverage-Related Claims 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
the defense costs of claims against the Entities seeking monetary or injunc-
tive relief pursuant to a claim that, if proven, would not itself trigger cover-
age, but which could involve occurrences, events, errors, or omissions out 
of which covered claims could be asserted.  Notwithstanding the above, this 
coverage will only be applied in specific instances where both the Authority 
and the Entities specifically approve the application.  Moreover, any appli-
cation of coverage shall not be deemed a practice or precedent obligating 
either the Authority or Entities to agree to or provide such coverage in other 
instances. 

  12. Legal and/or Defense Counsel Expenses for Formal Administrative or 
   Formal Regulatory Proceedings 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
the legal and/or defense counsel expenses of any Covered Person pursuant 
to any formal administrative or formal regulatory proceeding against or in-
volving such person(s), provided that the proceeding arises out of conduct 
deemed by the Entities to have occurred within the scope of the person’s 
official capacity(ies) for any of the Entities.  Any legal and/or defense coun-
sel expenses incurred under this Coverage Extension must have the prior 
consent of the Authority.  The Authority will select counsel pursuant to this 
paragraph. 

 13. Additional Covered Persons 

The coverages provided by this Memorandum of Coverage may be ex-
tended to Additional Covered Persons to the extent that the Entities are 
required by contract or agreement to name such persons as “additional in-
sureds.”  Any coverage provided to any Additional Covered Person is limited 
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to the scope and limits of indemnity required by the applicable contract or 
agreement.  Authority staff is authorized to issue Certificates of Coverage 
as evidence of the coverage provided by the Memorandum of Coverage, 
subject to the provisions of this section.  Any such Certificate is deemed to 
amend the Memorandum of Coverage to include the specified person(s) as 
Additional Covered Persons. 

 14. Confidential and Personally-Identifiable Information 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
cover the liability of any of the Entities for defense costs and privacy miti-
gation expenses incurred by and/or loss of income and additional expense 
paid by any of the Entities to meet extortion demands made, regulatory fines 
and any penalties levied against, and other expenses paid by any of the 
Entities which arise out of or are related to the wrongful access to confiden-
tial or personally-identifiable information which any of the Entities is/are 
required by law or by agreement to not to disclose except as provided by law 
or such agreement. 

Coverage is also extended to amounts paid to legal counsel and/or a public 
relations firm to minimize the potential harm that might arise out of a re-
lease of confidential information.  Coverage is also extended to pay the rea-
sonable expenses of notifications of affected persons as required by appli-
cable law and credit monitoring or identity theft protection for those whose 
confidential information has been disclosed without authorization. 
 
Except as provided in Sub-Section II.B.5., Deductibles, the coverage pro-
vided by this Sub-Section is specifically excess of and shall not contribute 
with any commercial insurance obtained by the Authority as per Section IV. 

 15. Equipment Breakdown 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
cover the sudden and accidental breakdown of any property owned and 
used by an Entity, for which an Entity holds or has assumed an obligation 
to insure or maintain, or which is in the care, custody, or control of an 
Entity and the Entity is legally obligated to repair or replace such property, 
provided that the breakdown is not subject to a warranty or maintenance 
contract and provided that the aggregate losses payable to an Entity under 
this Rider within the Coverage Period do not exceed $1 million.  Upon 
presentation of a claim, the Authority shall also hold the exclusive discre-
tion to determine whether the property should be repaired or replaced. 

 16. Unclaimed Property 

 Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
payments for unclaimed property consisting of any check in the amount of 
$25.00 or less issued by any one of the Entities which is determined to be 
abandoned in accordance with the Michigan Uniform Unclaimed Property 
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Act, as amended.  Any payment for such unclaimed property shall be certi-
fied as payable at the direction of the Ottawa County Treasurer or any per-
son authorized by the Ottawa County Treasurer. 

 17. Forgery or Alteration 

 Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
loss sustained by any of the Entities which loss arises out of the forgery or 
alteration of any checks, drafts, or other promises of payment which are 
made by or drawn upon any of the Entities or an agent of any of the Entities, 
or which are purported to be so made or drawn. 

 18. Theft of Money or Securities 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
loss of money or securities while within any premises owned, operated, or 
used by any of the Entities or while within any financial institution or any 
other entity utilized by one or more Entities as a place of secure storage.  
Loss includes theft or destruction of any money or securities held in elec-
tronic form. 

 19. Counterfeit Money or Money Orders 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
loss sustained by any of the Entities which inadvertently accept counterfeit 
money which is in common use.  Coverage is also extended to the ac-
ceptance of money orders issued by the U.S. Postal Service, any financial 
institution, or any express company, which money orders are not honored 
by their issuer(s). 

 20. Social Engineering Fraud 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
loss sustained by any one or more Entities as the result of a payment of 
money or securities on the basis of voice, facsimile, email, or written in-
structions purportedly from a vendor or other payor  which are, in fact, false 
or fraudulent. 

C. DEFINITIONS 
 

 1. Additional Covered Persons 

Means any person or entity which the Entities are required by contract or 
agreement to name as an “additional insured,” subject to all other provi-
sions and limitations of this Memorandum of Coverage and of the appli-
cable contract or agreement. 

 2. Casualty 
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Means any failure of any of the Entities to meet any statutory or contractual 
duty to a person, party, or governmental entity because of or resulting from 
any accidental event, injury, or disease. 

 3. Covered Persons 

Means elected and appointed officials, officers, employees, and volunteers 
of the Entities when deemed by the Entities to be acting within the scope of 
duty. 

 4. Entities 

Means, individually or collectively, the County of Ottawa, the Ottawa 
County Building Authority, and the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance 
Authority, as well as their Covered Persons, as defined in Definition 3.  For 
the purpose of this Memorandum of Coverage only, the County of Ottawa 
shall include trial court operations funded by the County as an arm of the 
State of Michigan, provided that no insurance coverage or indemnification is 
otherwise available from the State. 

 5. Remediation 

Means any expense to study, remove, contain, or stabilize any pollutant, 
irritant, toxic substance, or waste material from or within premises owned, 
operated, or used by the Entities should such expense be mandated by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, a recognized governmental agency, or by 
agreement among the Entities, a unit of government or court described 
above, any third-party claimant, and the Authority, to prevent, minimize, 
or abate injury to persons or damage to the property of others. 

6. Landscaping Plants 

Means trees, plants, or shrubs included in a covered building’s landscape 
design, regardless of whether planted specifically in accordance with the 
building’s design or natural allowed to remain in accordance with the build-
ing’s design. 

 
 

III. SERVICES PROVIDED 

The Authority provides the following services to the Entities, but, under this 
Section, the Authority assumes no risks of the Entities. 

 A. Workers’ Disability Compensation Services 

 1. Description of Services 

The Authority will provide the following services to assist the County in ad-
ministering its self-insured Workers’ Compensation program (“Program”): 
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(A.) Investment management for all of the Program’s self-insured 
retentions and reserves. 

(B.) The Program’s internal accounting. 

(C.) Risk management advice at the County’s request. 

(D.) Claims evaluation at the County’s request. 

(E.) Recommendations regarding the claims administrator engaged 
by the County, including, at the County’s request, negotiation of the 
terms of any claims administration contract(s). 

(F.) Recommendations regarding the appropriate level of self-in-
sured retentions and reserves at the County’s request. 

(G.) Legal counseling pursuant to the joint defense or risk manage-
ment services as further described herein. 

 2. Service Reports 

As described in more detail in Section 4, below, the Authority shall provide 
the County quarterly investment reports showing the rate of return earned 
by the County’s Workers’ Compensation funds as well as the percentage of 
the Authority’s pooled funds that constitute the County’s Workers’ Com-
pensation funds. 

When the County requests claims evaluation, risk management, claims ad-
ministrator evaluation, or other specific services from the Authority, it shall 
make such a request in writing and, in that writing, establish a date 
whereby it would like the Authority to report its findings.  The Authority 
shall endeavor in good faith to meet these deadlines or to advise the County 
if it needs additional time. 

 3. Joint Legal Defense or Counsel 

Any County memoranda, interview notes, factual reports, and other factual 
gathering data and documentation that are shared with the Authority’s 
counsel, and/or the Authority consultants or personnel under the direction 
of counsel, for the purposes of acquiring risk management or claims evalu-
ation services shall be considered in mutual defense and counsel, and shall 
be confidential and protected under the attorney-client privilege. 

Likewise, any interviews of County personnel conducted by the Authority’s 
counsel or consultants under the direction of counsel for the purpose of 
delivering risk management or claims evaluation services shall be consid-
ered in mutual defense and counsel, and shall be confidential and protected 
under the attorney-client privilege. 
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Any risk management or claims evaluation report containing risk manage-
ment recommendations and/or claim evaluations submitted by the Author-
ity’s counsel to the County shall be considered in mutual defense and coun-
sel, and shall be confidential and protected by attorney-client privilege. 

 4. Trust 

For purposes of this section, the County’s Workers’ Compensation funds 
shall be described as “WCTF Total.”  The state restrictions on the investment 
of County funds shall be described as “SR.”  The “Pool” shall refer to the 
Authority’s aggregate investments.  The “SR Pool” refers to the portion of 
the Pool that is invested in a manner that would qualify under the SR.  
“Workers’ Compensation Cumulative Total” refers to the total funds accu-
mulated under the formula described below. 

All County funds placed with the Authority for investment management 
shall be held in trust for the benefit of the County.  Such funds will be 
pooled with the Authority’s funds for investment purposes only and only in 
a manner subject to the restrictions contained herein. 

With respect to the Pool, the Authority must at all times invest an amount 
at least equivalent to the WCTF Total in investments that meet SR. 

Each year, the Authority shall report the then-current WCTF Total as fol-
lows: 

From the Workers’ Compensation contributions by the County to the Au-
thority’s Pool “Workers’ Compensation Claims and other Costs,” “Excess 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Costs,” “TPA Costs,” and “Administra-
tion Costs” shall be deducted.  The result shall be called “Annual Revenue 
over Expenses”; 

The Revenue Over Expenses shall be multiplied by the return on the SR 
Pool for that year.  This result shall be called the “Annual Interest Income”; 

The Annual Revenue over Expenses and Annual Interest Income shall be 
added to the “Workers’ Compensation Cumulative Total.” 

Upon written request of the Ottawa County Board of Commissioners, the 
Authority shall promptly return to the County any Workers’ Compensation 
funds that the Authority holds in trust for the County. 

IV. INSURANCE PURCHASED AND DEDUCTIBLES/RETENTIONS 

Coverage Limit Deductible/Retention 
Real and Personal Property, Including Rental Income 
and Extra Expense 

  

  Extra Expense $4,000,000 $50,000 
  Loss by Earthquake $100,000,000 

aggregate 
$100,000 

  Loss by Flood $50,000,000 
aggregate 

$100,000 
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Coverage Limit Deductible/Retention 
  All Other Covered Loss Replacement Value $50,000 
Automobile Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability $1,000,000 $20,000 Each Accident 
  Personal Injury Protection Statutorily-required $0 
  Property Protection Statutorily-required $0 
Excess General Liability, Including Employee Benefits 
Errors or Omissions and Employers’ Liability 

$5,000,000 
Policy-Year Aggregate 

 
$1,500,000 Each Loss 

Excess Automobile Liability $5,000,000 
Each Accident 

 
$1,000,000 Each Accident 

Excess Errors or Omissions Liability $5,000,000 
Policy-Year Aggregate 

$1,000,000 Each Wrongful 
Act 

Excess Liability Insurance $5,000,000 $5,000,000 plus underlying 
policy retentions 

Public Employee Faithful Performance of Duty $1,000,000 $25,000 
Public Employee Theft $3,000,000 $25,000 
Computer Fraud $3,000,000 $25,000 
Funds Transfer Fraud $3,000,000 $25,000 
Public Employee Theft, Computer Fraud, and Funds 
Transfer Fraud Claims Expense 

 
$25,000 

 
$0 

Employed Lawyer Professional Liability $2,000,000  
Policy-Year Aggregate 

$5,000 Policy Year 
Aggregate 

Privacy-Cyber Liability Breach Response Expenses To Cover 1,000,000 
Persons to be 

Notified 

Notifications Required to 
100 

Or Fewer Persons Not 
Covered 

Privacy-Cyber Liability First-Party Loss and Third Party 
Liability Claims 

$1,000,000 
Policy-Year Aggregate 

 
$50,000 Each Loss 

 
 The coverages described above are included to satisfy exclusively the 

requirements of the agreement establishing the Authority and the Authority's 
By-Laws, and do not provide additional coverage to the Entities. 

 
V. SUBROGATION AND CONSTRUCTION 

 The Authority shall have the right to assume and assert any defense, 
affirmative or otherwise, of the Entities, or their departments, offices, funding 
units, officers, agents, or employees, except where such right is waived in 
accordance with the provisions of any insurance policy purchased by the 
Authority.  This Memorandum of Coverage shall not be construed as 
broadening, enlarging, or otherwise increasing the liability, in amount or type, 
of the Entities, or their departments, offices, funding units, officials, officers, 
agents, or employees, or of the Insurance Authority to a third party.  In fact, 
the benefits of this Memorandum accrue exclusively to the Entities, and not 
to their departments, Covered Persons, or to third parties.  Such individuals 
and third parties shall have no rights of subrogation nor shall they be 
construed as third party beneficiaries to this Memorandum.  
 
When the Authority and/or its excess insurers make any loss payment on 
behalf of an Entity and/or any Covered Person, any recovery rights of an 
Entity and/or a Covered Person are transferred to the Authority and/or its 
excess insurers, except where such rights have been waived in writing prior 
to the event which triggers the loss payment.  
 
When the Authority and/or its excess insurers make any loss payment for 
damaged or destroyed property, the Authority and/or its excess insurers 
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shall assume control of such property, and are entitled to any sale or 
salvage proceeds received from the disposition of this property. 

 
VI. CLAIMS PROCEDURE 

A. All incidents of injury to or damage to property of anyone who is not 
an Entities’ employee are to be reported on the Incident Review Form 
promptly. 

B. All letters or other notices of intent to hold the Entities, including any 
of its Covered Persons, liable for injury or damage to property are to 
be reported promptly. 

C. All occurrences, events, or omissions which are deemed by a Covered 
Person likely to give rise to a claim for injury or damage against any 
of the Covered Entities, including any of its Covered Persons, shall be 
reported promptly. 

D. All summonses and complaints brought against any of the Entities, 
including any of its Covered Persons, are to be reported promptly. 

E. All damage to Entities’ vehicles is to be reported promptly with copies 
of State of Michigan (or the uniform traffic report of the state in which 
the damage occurred) accident report and supporting documentation. 

F. All damage to Entities real and/or personal property is to be reported 
promptly. 

All reports required by Section VI., Paragraphs A. through F. shall be in 
writing and directed to the following reporting address. 

Reporting Address 

 County of Ottawa 
 Budget Audit Analyst 
 12220 Fillmore Street, Room 331 
 West Olive, Michigan 49460-9672 
 Email:  insuranceauthority@miottawa.org 
 Telephone: (616) 738-4842   FAX: (616) 738-4098 
 

The Budget Audit Analyst will forward all demands, summonses, com-
plaints, and other information to legal counsel for the Insurance Authority 
and/or the appropriate insurers. 

 The Entities or their Covered Persons, except at their own cost, voluntarily 
make any payment, confess judgment, or admit liability to a third party 
without first obtaining the approval of the Insurance Authority.  The 
Insurance Authority reserves the right to pay claims against the Entities 
directly, consistent with the Agreement which created the Authority. 
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VII. LOSS PAYABLE 

 The Entities shall promptly advise the Authority of any agreement, oral or 
written, whereby the former have agreed to indemnify, defend, or hold 
harmless a third party from its property loss, or liability for bodily injury, 
personal injury, or property damage.  A copy of any written agreement or a 
memorandum of any oral agreement must be provided to the Authority.  The 
Insurance Authority reserves the right to deny coverage hereunder in the 
event that the Entities fail to advise promptly the Authority of such an 
agreement. 

 
VIII. DEFENSE 

 In addition to the indemnification coverages specified herein, the Authority 
agrees to defend the Entities against any claim that, if true, would trigger the 
Authority's indemnification obligations hereunder.  The types of costs 
included in this obligation shall be as defined in any insurance policy, which 
the Authority has purchased to cover such claims in excess of any applicable 
deductible or self-insured retention.  Defense costs are subject to the coverage 
limits specified in II.A., above.  When the Authority assumes defense 
responsibility, the Authority has the right to select defense counsel and to 
control the defense of any covered matter. 

 
IX. OTHER COVERAGE 

 The coverage provided by this Memorandum is excess over any other valid 
and collectible insurance, self-insurance plan, or other coverage, including 
coverage provided by previous Memoranda, unless specifically stated 
otherwise herein, or except as respects coverage purchased specifically to be 
in excess of any or all of those coverages provided by this Memorandum. 

 
X. INTERPRETATION AND AUTHORITY 

This Memorandum of Coverage is issued as authorized by the Intergovern-
mental Agreement (“Agreement”) establishing the Ottawa County, Michigan 
Insurance Authority.  The terms used in the Memorandum shall have a 
meaning consistent with the terms used in the Agreement and/or the By-
laws also authorized in the Agreement.  Any conflict between this Memo-
randum and the Bylaws and/or the Agreement shall be resolved giving pri-
mary authority to the Agreement and secondary authority to the Bylaws.  
Any lawsuit regarding an interpretation or application of this Memorandum 
must be filed in the Michigan state courts and must apply Michigan law. 
 

XI. CHANGES & INTEGRATION 

This Memorandum of Coverage may be changed or supplemented by a writ-
ten Rider, which has been duly approved by the Authority and executed by 
its Chairperson or Vice Chairperson.  In all other respects, the Agreement 
creating, the Bylaws approved for the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance 
Authority, and this Memorandum of Coverage and its authorized Riders 
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constitute the complete understanding between the Entities and the Au-
thority as to the services and coverages provided by the latter to the former. 

XII. LIMITATIONS 

Any claim or action arising out of this Memorandum of Coverage must be 
filed in a court of competent jurisdiction within six (6) months of the date 
on which it could have been brought or it is deemed waived. 

 
XIII. CONTRIBUTIONS FULLY EARNED 

The contributions made to the Authority for the coverages provided by this 
Memorandum shall be considered as fully earned as of the inception date 
specified in Section I. 

 
Date:  _______________                          ____________________________________ 
                                                   Chairperson, Ottawa County Insurance Authority 
 
 
Issue Date:  March 18, 2024 
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MEMORANDUM OF COVERAGE 

 
I. PERIOD OF COVERAGE 

This Memorandum, issued by the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance 
Authority (“Authority”), covers occurrences, events, injury, damage, errors or 
omissions that take place during the period of April 1, 2024 at 12:01 a.m., 
local time, through April 1, 2025 at 12:01 a.m., local time ("Coverage Period").  
This Memorandum also covers certain claims which are brought during the 
Coverage Period and which are covered by an Additional Coverage and 
Coverage Extension, Section II.B., identified as “Claims-Made.” 

 
II. A. COVERAGE PROVISION 

For occurrences, events, injury, damage, errors, omissions, or claims, subject 
to the provisions of Section I, the Authority will assume responsibility to the 
Entities the following coverages: 
 

Coverage 
Real and Personal Property Direct Damage, Extra Expense, and Business Income 
Excess Employers’ Liability 
Bodily Injury, Property Damage, Personal Injury, Advertising Injury, Employee 
Benefits Errors or Omissions, Other Errors or Omissions Liability 
Automobile Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability 
Automobile Uninsured/Underinsured Motorists 
Watercraft Uninsured Boaters 
Michigan Personal Injury Protection 
Michigan Property Protection 
Automobile and Boat Physical Damage 
Public Employee Theft and Faithful Performance of Duty 
Computer Theft/Electronic Funds Transfer Fraud/Forgery or Alteration/Loss of 
Money and Securities/Money Orders and Counterfeit Money/Social Engineering 
Fraud 
Privacy and Electronic Information Liability 

 
 The Authority may purchase insurance as described in Section IV. to satisfy 

all or any portion of its obligations above. 
 
 The Authority’s responsibility for any loss covered within the Coverage Period 

shall not exceed any limits specified in Sub-Section B., Additional Coverages 
& Coverage Extensions, or an aggregate limit per Coverage Period of 
$30,000,000.  This limitation shall not apply to loss resulting from direct 
damage to Real or Personal Property or to Automobile or Boat Physical 
Damage.  Further, this limitation shall not apply to any amounts paid to or 
on behalf of the Entities.  Recoveries for loss, damage, or injury received by 
the Entities shall be applied so as to reinstate this limit to the extent of such 
recoveries. 
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The coverage provided by the Authority is subject to the same exclusions, 
limitations, and restrictions as the insurance policies which the Authority 
purchases, except as respects limits, and except as specifically provided in 
Additional Coverages & Coverage Extensions included in Section II.B. and 
Riders attached to this Memorandum. 
 

 The Authority’s responsibility for any loss arising out of the acts, errors, or 
omissions of any volunteer medical or dental provider is limited to $100,000.  
This amount is part of, not in addition to, the Authority’s $30,000,000 limit 
for any covered loss. 
 
 

 B. ADDITIONAL COVERAGES & COVERAGE EXTENSIONS 

  1. Remediation—“Claims-Made” 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage for Remedia-
tion is added.  This Additional Coverage applies to claims made during the 
Coverage Period. 

  2. Automobile and Watercraft Physical Damage 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage for physical 
damage to and emergency road service required by automobiles or water-
craft owned or hired by the Entities ("Covered Automobiles") is added.  Loss 
to Covered Automobiles, which results from sudden, accidental events, is 
covered to the lesser of the cost of repairs or the cost of replacement, less 
any salvage amount received.  Emergency road service benefits will be the 
amount charged by the County-selected emergency road service provider. 

A Collision loss deductible of $3,000 shall apply to each Covered Automo-
bile.  No deductible shall apply to physical damage to watercraft. 

  3. Michigan Special Tort Liability 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage for property 
damage liability arising out of a collision in Michigan of an automobile 
owned or hired by the Entities is added. The limit payable per loss is the 
lesser of $3,000 or the uninsured damages. 

  4. Interruption of Incoming Services 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
cover physical damage to or loss of property owned by the Entities and extra 
expense or loss of income incurred by the Entities caused directly by the 
whole or partial lack of the incoming utility services, by reason of accidental 
occurrence to the facilities of the suppliers of the utility services.  The oc-
currence must result from a peril insured against by the real and personal 
property insurance policy purchased by the Authority. 
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  5. Deductibles 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is added for 
all deductibles or retentions incurred by the Entities under the policies pur-
chased by the Authority pursuant to Section IV. of this Memorandum. 
However, this Section does not extend coverage to personal property owned 
by Covered Persons, unless any of the Entities is legally liable for damage 
to or loss of such personal property or such personal property is damaged 
or destroyed concurrently with real and/or personal property owned by any 
of the Entities, and covered damage to Entity’s(ies’) property exceeds the 
applicable deductible. 

  6. Exclusions 

a. Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is 
excluded if the defense is provided or loss covered by other casualty, 
property, or surety insurance purchased for the Entities pursuant to 
Section IV or by any of the Entities. 

b. Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is 
added for any occurrence, accident, or public official's errors or omis-
sion, which would otherwise be covered by a property, casualty, or 
surety insurance policy, purchased for any of the Entities pursuant 
to Section IV or by any of the Entities, but which is excluded due to 
a specific exclusion in any such policy.  "Occurrence," "accident," and 
"public official's errors or omissions" as used herein shall have the 
same definitions as stated in the insurance policies purchased pur-
suant to Section IV of this Memorandum or by any of the Entities. 

c. Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is 
added for any direct physical loss or damage to real or personal prop-
erty of the Entities to the extent such loss or damage is to the type of 
real property or building which is excluded by the property insurance 
policy purchased for the Entities pursuant to Section IV of this Mem-
orandum. 

d. Sections II.B.7.a. through II.B.7.c. notwithstanding, coverage 
for any direct physical loss or damage to trees or plants, other than 
Landscaping Plants, is limited to $250,000 per occurrence for loss 
caused by wind, fire, lightning, hail, aircraft, vandalism, or automo-
biles.  Loss to fewer than 10 trees or plants in any one occurrence is 
not covered. 

  7. Automobile Uninsured Motorists and Watercraft Uninsured Boaters 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is added for 
bodily injury damages sustained by those who occupy vehicles owned or 
rented by the Entities and who sustain such injury as the result of an acci-
dent for which an uninsured motorist or underinsured motorist is 50% or 
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more at fault.  Covered damages are limited to those collectible under Mich-
igan Automobile Residual Liability Insurance, and may be modified by com-
parative negligence.  For the purpose of this Section, an underinsured mo-
torist is a motorist who carries insurance in sufficient limits and types to 
meet minimum statutory requirements, but who carries insufficient limits 
to cover the damages for which he/she is responsible. 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is added for 
bodily injury damages sustained by those who occupy watercraft owned or 
rented by the Entities and who sustain bodily injury as the result of an 
accident for which an uninsured or underinsured watercraft is responsible, 
as might be modified by comparative negligence. 

The maximum payable per person per accident is $100,000.  These 
amounts are payable in addition to amounts, if any, collected from an at-
fault motorist, at-fault boater, or other sources including, but not limited 
to, Workers’ Disability Compensation or any salary/wage continuation ben-
efit. 

The Authority will make the final determination as to eligibility for and 
amount of any benefit payable under this Additional Coverage. 

  8. Casualty 

Pursuant to Section I and II of this Memorandum, coverage extends to any 
Casualty. 

  9. Kidnap/Ransom and Extortion 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
indemnify any of the Entities for loss of ransom monies resulting from any 
kidnapping or alleged kidnapping of any Covered Person, physical or elec-
tronic (including, but not limited to digital) extortion demand, and detention 
and hijack, in transit/delivery, or through ransomware, including legal lia-
bility arising out of any of the foregoing. 
 
The term Covered Person as respects Section II.B.9 is extended to include 
guests.  Coverage for guests is limited to events which occur while a guest 
is on or about locations owned or operated by any of the Entities, or while 
in the company of an official, officer, employee, or volunteer of any Entity. 
 
The Authority shall have the right and duty to defend any claim alleging 
that any one or more of the Entities is/are liable for damages arising out of 
or in any way related to an event covered by this overage provision. 
 
If disclosure of information is done by a third party which is required by 
contract to keep such information confidential, coverage applies in excess 
of insurance and/or indemnity provided by that third party. 
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Coverage is also extended to include fines, penalties, and notification ex-
penses. 
 
Any event which might be covered under this overage provision shall be 
promptly reported to an appropriate law enforcement agency. 
 
Knowledge of the existence of this coverage provision shall be limited, inso-
far as is permitted by applicable law, to those who have the need to know 
of this coverage. 
 

  10. Defense Costs for Non-Monetary Relief Claims--“Claims-Made” 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
the defense costs of claims made against any of the Entities during the Cov-
erage Period specified in Section I seeking non-monetary or injunctive relief, 
either as a part of or independent of claims seeking monetary relief. 

  11. Defense Costs for Non-Covered But Coverage-Related Claims 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
the defense costs of claims against the Entities seeking monetary or injunc-
tive relief pursuant to a claim that, if proven, would not itself trigger cover-
age, but which could involve occurrences, events, errors, or omissions out 
of which covered claims could be asserted.  Notwithstanding the above, this 
coverage will only be applied in specific instances where both the Authority 
and the Entities specifically approve the application.  Moreover, any appli-
cation of coverage shall not be deemed a practice or precedent obligating 
either the Authority or Entities to agree to or provide such coverage in other 
instances. 

  12. Legal and/or Defense Counsel Expenses for Formal Administrative or 
   Formal Regulatory Proceedings 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
the legal and/or defense counsel expenses of any Covered Person pursuant 
to any formal administrative or formal regulatory proceeding against or in-
volving such person(s), provided that the proceeding arises out of conduct 
deemed by the Entities to have occurred within the scope of the person’s 
official capacity(ies) for any of the Entities.  Any legal and/or defense coun-
sel expenses incurred under this Coverage Extension must have the prior 
consent of the Authority.  The Authority will select counsel pursuant to this 
paragraph. 

 13. Additional Covered Persons 

The coverages provided by this Memorandum of Coverage may be ex-
tended to Additional Covered Persons to the extent that the Entities are 
required by contract or agreement to name such persons as “additional in-
sureds.”  Any coverage provided to any Additional Covered Person is limited 



-6- 

to the scope and limits of indemnity required by the applicable contract or 
agreement.  Authority staff is authorized to issue Certificates of Coverage 
as evidence of the coverage provided by the Memorandum of Coverage, 
subject to the provisions of this section.  Any such Certificate is deemed to 
amend the Memorandum of Coverage to include the specified person(s) as 
Additional Covered Persons. 

 14. Confidential and Personally-Identifiable Information 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
cover the liability of any of the Entities for defense costs and privacy miti-
gation expenses incurred by and/or loss of income and additional expense 
paid by any of the Entities to meet extortion demands made, regulatory fines 
and any penalties levied against, and other expenses paid by any of the 
Entities which arise out of or are related to the wrongful access to confiden-
tial or personally-identifiable information which any of the Entities is/are 
required by law or by agreement to not to disclose except as provided by law 
or such agreement. 

Coverage is also extended to amounts paid to legal counsel and/or a public 
relations firm to minimize the potential harm that might arise out of a re-
lease of confidential information.  Coverage is also extended to pay the rea-
sonable expenses of notifications of affected persons as required by appli-
cable law and credit monitoring or identity theft protection for those whose 
confidential information has been disclosed without authorization. 
 
Except as provided in Sub-Section II.B.5., Deductibles, the coverage pro-
vided by this Sub-Section is specifically excess of and shall not contribute 
with any commercial insurance obtained by the Authority as per Section IV. 

 15. Equipment Breakdown 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
cover the sudden and accidental breakdown of any property owned and 
used by an Entity, for which an Entity holds or has assumed an obligation 
to insure or maintain, or which is in the care, custody, or control of an 
Entity and the Entity is legally obligated to repair or replace such property, 
provided that the breakdown is not subject to a warranty or maintenance 
contract and provided that the aggregate losses payable to an Entity under 
this Rider within the Coverage Period do not exceed $1 million.  Upon 
presentation of a claim, the Authority shall also hold the exclusive discre-
tion to determine whether the property should be repaired or replaced. 

 16. Unclaimed Property 

 Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
payments for unclaimed property consisting of any check in the amount of 
$25.00 or less issued by any one of the Entities which is determined to be 
abandoned in accordance with the Michigan Uniform Unclaimed Property 



-7- 

Act, as amended.  Any payment for such unclaimed property shall be certi-
fied as payable at the direction of the Ottawa County Treasurer or any per-
son authorized by the Ottawa County Treasurer. 

 17. Forgery or Alteration 

 Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
loss sustained by any of the Entities which loss arises out of the forgery or 
alteration of any checks, drafts, or other promises of payment which are 
made by or drawn upon any of the Entities or an agent of any of the Entities, 
or which are purported to be so made or drawn. 

 18. Theft of Money or Securities 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
loss of money or securities while within any premises owned, operated, or 
used by any of the Entities or while within any financial institution or any 
other entity utilized by one or more Entities as a place of secure storage.  
Loss includes theft or destruction of any money or securities held in elec-
tronic form. 

 19. Counterfeit Money or Money Orders 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
loss sustained by any of the Entities which inadvertently accept counterfeit 
money which is in common use.  Coverage is also extended to the ac-
ceptance of money orders issued by the U.S. Postal Service, any financial 
institution, or any express company, which money orders are not honored 
by their issuer(s). 

 20. Social Engineering Fraud 

Pursuant to Sections I and II of this Memorandum, coverage is extended to 
loss sustained by any one or more Entities as the result of a payment of 
money or securities on the basis of voice, facsimile, email, or written in-
structions purportedly from a vendor or other payor  which are, in fact, false 
or fraudulent. 

C. DEFINITIONS 
 

 1. Additional Covered Persons 

Means any person or entity which the Entities are required by contract or 
agreement to name as an “additional insured,” subject to all other provi-
sions and limitations of this Memorandum of Coverage and of the appli-
cable contract or agreement. 

 2. Casualty 
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Means any failure of any of the Entities to meet any statutory or contractual 
duty to a person, party, or governmental entity because of or resulting from 
any accidental event, injury, or disease. 

 3. Covered Persons 

Means elected and appointed officials, officers, employees, and volunteers 
of the Entities when deemed by the Entities to be acting within the scope of 
duty. 

 4. Entities 

Means, individually or collectively, the County of Ottawa, the Ottawa 
County Building Authority, and the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance 
Authority, as well as their Covered Persons, as defined in Definition 3.  For 
the purpose of this Memorandum of Coverage only, the County of Ottawa 
shall include trial court operations funded by the County as an arm of the 
State of Michigan, provided that no insurance coverage or indemnification is 
otherwise available from the State. 

 5. Remediation 

Means any expense to study, remove, contain, or stabilize any pollutant, 
irritant, toxic substance, or waste material from or within premises owned, 
operated, or used by the Entities should such expense be mandated by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, a recognized governmental agency, or by 
agreement among the Entities, a unit of government or court described 
above, any third-party claimant, and the Authority, to prevent, minimize, 
or abate injury to persons or damage to the property of others. 

6. Landscaping Plants 

Means trees, plants, or shrubs included in a covered building’s landscape 
design, regardless of whether planted specifically in accordance with the 
building’s design or natural allowed to remain in accordance with the build-
ing’s design. 

 
 

III. SERVICES PROVIDED 

The Authority provides the following services to the Entities, but, under this 
Section, the Authority assumes no risks of the Entities. 

 A. Workers’ Disability Compensation Services 

 1. Description of Services 

The Authority will provide the following services to assist the County in ad-
ministering its self-insured Workers’ Compensation program (“Program”): 



-9- 

(A.) Investment management for all of the Program’s self-insured 
retentions and reserves. 

(B.) The Program’s internal accounting. 

(C.) Risk management advice at the County’s request. 

(D.) Claims evaluation at the County’s request. 

(E.) Recommendations regarding the claims administrator engaged 
by the County, including, at the County’s request, negotiation of the 
terms of any claims administration contract(s). 

(F.) Recommendations regarding the appropriate level of self-in-
sured retentions and reserves at the County’s request. 

(G.) Legal counseling pursuant to the joint defense or risk manage-
ment services as further described herein. 

 2. Service Reports 

As described in more detail in Section 4, below, the Authority shall provide 
the County quarterly investment reports showing the rate of return earned 
by the County’s Workers’ Compensation funds as well as the percentage of 
the Authority’s pooled funds that constitute the County’s Workers’ Com-
pensation funds. 

When the County requests claims evaluation, risk management, claims ad-
ministrator evaluation, or other specific services from the Authority, it shall 
make such a request in writing and, in that writing, establish a date 
whereby it would like the Authority to report its findings.  The Authority 
shall endeavor in good faith to meet these deadlines or to advise the County 
if it needs additional time. 

 3. Joint Legal Defense or Counsel 

Any County memoranda, interview notes, factual reports, and other factual 
gathering data and documentation that are shared with the Authority’s 
counsel, and/or the Authority consultants or personnel under the direction 
of counsel, for the purposes of acquiring risk management or claims evalu-
ation services shall be considered in mutual defense and counsel, and shall 
be confidential and protected under the attorney-client privilege. 

Likewise, any interviews of County personnel conducted by the Authority’s 
counsel or consultants under the direction of counsel for the purpose of 
delivering risk management or claims evaluation services shall be consid-
ered in mutual defense and counsel, and shall be confidential and protected 
under the attorney-client privilege. 
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Any risk management or claims evaluation report containing risk manage-
ment recommendations and/or claim evaluations submitted by the Author-
ity’s counsel to the County shall be considered in mutual defense and coun-
sel, and shall be confidential and protected by attorney-client privilege. 

 4. Trust 

For purposes of this section, the County’s Workers’ Compensation funds 
shall be described as “WCTF Total.”  The state restrictions on the investment 
of County funds shall be described as “SR.”  The “Pool” shall refer to the 
Authority’s aggregate investments.  The “SR Pool” refers to the portion of 
the Pool that is invested in a manner that would qualify under the SR.  
“Workers’ Compensation Cumulative Total” refers to the total funds accu-
mulated under the formula described below. 

All County funds placed with the Authority for investment management 
shall be held in trust for the benefit of the County.  Such funds will be 
pooled with the Authority’s funds for investment purposes only and only in 
a manner subject to the restrictions contained herein. 

With respect to the Pool, the Authority must at all times invest an amount 
at least equivalent to the WCTF Total in investments that meet SR. 

Each year, the Authority shall report the then-current WCTF Total as fol-
lows: 

From the Workers’ Compensation contributions by the County to the Au-
thority’s Pool “Workers’ Compensation Claims and other Costs,” “Excess 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Costs,” “TPA Costs,” and “Administra-
tion Costs” shall be deducted.  The result shall be called “Annual Revenue 
over Expenses”; 

The Revenue Over Expenses shall be multiplied by the return on the SR 
Pool for that year.  This result shall be called the “Annual Interest Income”; 

The Annual Revenue over Expenses and Annual Interest Income shall be 
added to the “Workers’ Compensation Cumulative Total.” 

Upon written request of the Ottawa County Board of Commissioners, the 
Authority shall promptly return to the County any Workers’ Compensation 
funds that the Authority holds in trust for the County. 

IV. INSURANCE PURCHASED AND DEDUCTIBLES/RETENTIONS 

Coverage Limit Deductible/Retention 
Real and Personal Property, Including Rental Income 
and Extra Expense 

  

  Extra Expense $4,000,000 $50,000 
  Loss by Earthquake $100,000,000 

aggregate 
$100,000 

  Loss by Flood $50,000,000 
aggregate 

$100,000 
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Coverage Limit Deductible/Retention 
  All Other Covered Loss Replacement Value $50,000 
Automobile Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability $1,000,000 $20,000 Each Accident 
  Personal Injury Protection Statutorily-required $0 
  Property Protection Statutorily-required $0 
Excess General Liability, Including Employee Benefits 
Errors or Omissions and Employers’ Liability 

$5,000,000 
Policy-Year Aggregate 

 
$1,500,000 Each Loss 

Excess Automobile Liability $5,000,000 
Each Accident 

 
$1,000,000 Each Accident 

Excess Errors or Omissions Liability $5,000,000 
Policy-Year Aggregate 

$1,000,000 Each Wrongful 
Act 

Excess Liability Insurance $5,000,000 $5,000,000 plus underlying 
policy retentions 

Public Employee Faithful Performance of Duty $1,000,000 $25,000 
Public Employee Theft $3,000,000 $25,000 
Computer Fraud $3,000,000 $25,000 
Funds Transfer Fraud $3,000,000 $25,000 
Public Employee Theft, Computer Fraud, and Funds 
Transfer Fraud Claims Expense 

 
$25,000 

 
$0 

Employed Lawyer Professional Liability $2,000,000  
Policy-Year Aggregate 

$5,000 Policy Year 
Aggregate 

Privacy-Cyber Liability Breach Response Expenses To Cover 1,000,000 
Persons to be 

Notified 

Notifications Required to 
100 

Or Fewer Persons Not 
Covered 

Privacy-Cyber Liability First-Party Loss and Third Party 
Liability Claims 

$1,000,000 
Policy-Year Aggregate 

 
$50,000 Each Loss 

 
 The coverages described above are included to satisfy exclusively the 

requirements of the agreement establishing the Authority and the Authority's 
By-Laws, and do not provide additional coverage to the Entities. 

 
V. SUBROGATION AND CONSTRUCTION 

 The Authority shall have the right to assume and assert any defense, 
affirmative or otherwise, of the Entities, or their departments, offices, funding 
units, officers, agents, or employees, except where such right is waived in 
accordance with the provisions of any insurance policy purchased by the 
Authority.  This Memorandum of Coverage shall not be construed as 
broadening, enlarging, or otherwise increasing the liability, in amount or type, 
of the Entities, or their departments, offices, funding units, officials, officers, 
agents, or employees, or of the Insurance Authority to a third party.  In fact, 
the benefits of this Memorandum accrue exclusively to the Entities, and not 
to their departments, Covered Persons, or to third parties.  Such individuals 
and third parties shall have no rights of subrogation nor shall they be 
construed as third party beneficiaries to this Memorandum.  
 
When the Authority and/or its excess insurers make any loss payment on 
behalf of an Entity and/or any Covered Person, any recovery rights of an 
Entity and/or a Covered Person are transferred to the Authority and/or its 
excess insurers, except where such rights have been waived in writing prior 
to the event which triggers the loss payment.  
 
When the Authority and/or its excess insurers make any loss payment for 
damaged or destroyed property, the Authority and/or its excess insurers 
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shall assume control of such property, and are entitled to any sale or 
salvage proceeds received from the disposition of this property. 

 
VI. CLAIMS PROCEDURE 

A. All incidents of injury to or damage to property of anyone who is not 
an Entities’ employee are to be reported on the Incident Review Form 
as promptly. 

B. All letters or other notices of intent to hold the Entities, including any 
of its Covered Persons, liable for injury or damage to property are to 
be reported promptly. 

C. All occurrences, events, or omissions which are deemed by a Covered 
Person likely to give rise to a claim for injury or damage against any 
of the Covered Entities, including any of its Covered Persons, shall be 
reported promptly. 

D. All summonses and complaints brought against any of the Entities, 
including any of its Covered Persons, are to be reported promptly. 

E. All damage to Entities’ vehicles is to be reported promptly with copies 
of State of Michigan (or the uniform traffic report of the state in which 
the damage occurred) accident report and supporting documentation. 

F. All damage to Entities real and/or personal property is to be reported 
promptly. 

All reports required by Section VI., Paragraphs A. through F. shall be in 
writing and directed to the following reporting address. 

Reporting Address 

 County of Ottawa 
 Budget Audit Analyst 
 12220 Fillmore Street, Room 331 
 West Olive, Michigan 49460-9672 
 Email:  insuranceauthority@miottawa.org 
 Telephone: (616) 738-4842   FAX: (616) 738-4098 
 

The Budget Audit Analyst will forward all demands, summonses, com-
plaints, and other information to legal counsel for the Insurance Authority 
and/or the appropriate insurers. 

 The Entities or their Covered Persons, except at their own cost, voluntarily 
make any payment, confess judgment, or admit liability to a third party 
without first obtaining the approval of the Insurance Authority.  The 
Insurance Authority reserves the right to pay claims against the Entities 
directly, consistent with the Agreement which created the Authority. 
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VII. LOSS PAYABLE 

 The Entities shall promptly advise the Authority of any agreement, oral or 
written, whereby the former have agreed to indemnify, defend, or hold 
harmless a third party from its property loss, or liability for bodily injury, 
personal injury, or property damage.  A copy of any written agreement or a 
memorandum of any oral agreement must be provided to the Authority.  The 
Insurance Authority reserves the right to deny coverage hereunder in the 
event that the Entities fail to advise promptly the Authority of such an 
agreement. 

 
VIII. DEFENSE 

 In addition to the indemnification coverages specified herein, the Authority 
agrees to defend the Entities against any claim that, if true, would trigger the 
Authority's indemnification obligations hereunder.  The types of costs 
included in this obligation shall be as defined in any insurance policy, which 
the Authority has purchased to cover such claims in excess of any applicable 
deductible or self-insured retention.  Defense costs are subject to the coverage 
limits specified in II.A., above.  When the Authority assumes defense 
responsibility, the Authority has the right to select defense counsel and to 
control the defense of any covered matter. 

 
IX. OTHER COVERAGE 

 The coverage provided by this Memorandum is excess over any other valid 
and collectible insurance, self-insurance plan, or other coverage, including 
coverage provided by previous Memoranda, unless specifically stated 
otherwise herein, or except as respects coverage purchased specifically to be 
in excess of any or all of those coverages provided by this Memorandum. 

 
X. INTERPRETATION AND AUTHORITY 

This Memorandum of Coverage is issued as authorized by the Intergovern-
mental Agreement (“Agreement”) establishing the Ottawa County, Michigan 
Insurance Authority.  The terms used in the Memorandum shall have a 
meaning consistent with the terms used in the Agreement and/or the By-
laws also authorized in the Agreement.  Any conflict between this Memo-
randum and the Bylaws and/or the Agreement shall be resolved giving pri-
mary authority to the Agreement and secondary authority to the Bylaws.  
Any lawsuit regarding an interpretation or application of this Memorandum 
must be filed in the Michigan state courts and must apply Michigan law. 
 

XI. CHANGES & INTEGRATION 

This Memorandum of Coverage may be changed or supplemented by a writ-
ten Rider, which has been duly approved by the Authority and executed by 
its Chairperson or Vice Chairperson.  In all other respects, the Agreement 
creating, the Bylaws approved for the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance 
Authority, and this Memorandum of Coverage and its authorized Riders 
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constitute the complete understanding between the Entities and the Au-
thority as to the services and coverages provided by the latter to the former. 

XII. LIMITATIONS 

Any claim or action arising out of this Memorandum of Coverage must be 
filed in a court of competent jurisdiction within six (6) months of the date 
on which it could have been brought or it is deemed waived. 

 
XIII. CONTRIBUTIONS FULLY EARNED 

The contributions made to the Authority for the coverages provided by this 
Memorandum shall be considered as fully earned as of the inception date 
specified in Section I. 

 
Date:  _______________                          ____________________________________ 
                                                    Chairperson, Ottawa County Insurance Authority 
 
 
Issue Date:  March 18, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  

January 11, 2024  

Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority 
Board of Directors 
West Olive, Michigan  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance 
Authority (the Authority), a component unit of Ottawa County, Michigan, as of and for the years ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements which collectively comprise 
the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Authority, as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the changes in its financial position and cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of Ottawa County, Michigan and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance 
Authority and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the Ottawa County, 
Michigan, as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the changes in its financial position, or its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements.
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In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 7 and required supplementary information presented on pages 
24 through 29 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance.  

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information 
comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other 
information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the 
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information 
exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 11, 
2024 on our consideration of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Authority’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
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AND ANALYSIS 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
 
As management of the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority, we offer readers of the 
Authority’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities for the 
year ended September 30, 2023. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in 
conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can 
be found on pages i-iii of this report. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 

▪ The assets of the Authority exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by 
$19,670,422 (net position). This entire amount is unrestricted and may be used to meet the 
Authority’s ongoing obligations. 

 

▪ The Authority’s total net position decreased by $3,403,230 primarily due to a significant 
increase in claims this year. 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
Fund type: The Authority has been established as an internal service proprietary fund type of the 
primary government, Ottawa County, to account for and allocate costs internally among the County’s 
various functions. Specifically, the Authority accounts for the general, automobile, and property 
liability of the County. There are three statements included in the Authority’s basic financial 
statements. 
   
The statements of net position present information on all of the Authority’s assets and liabilities, with 
the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net 
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the Authority’s financial position is improving or 
deteriorating. 
 
The statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position present information of the changes 
in the Authority’s net position during the year ended September 30, 2023. All changes in net position 
are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing 

of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that 
will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 
 
The statements of cash flows present information showing the inflows and outflows of cash during the 
year ended September 30, 2023. Accordingly, only transactions that affect the Authority’s cash 
account are reported. The statement of cash flows assists the reader in determining the liquidity of the 
entity. 
 
These statements can be found on pages 9-11 of this report. 
 
Notes to the financial statements:  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the financial statements. The notes to the financial statements 
can be found beginning on page 13 of this report. 
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Other information:  In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report 
also presents certain supplementary information. This is limited to the letter of transmittal, this 
management discussion and analysis, schedules of claims development, unpaid claims liabilities, and 
changes in net position, and other statistical information. 
 
 

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL 
 
The financial statements of the Authority have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government entities. The Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental 
accounting and financial reporting principles. 
 
Fund Accounting 
 
The Authority uses a fund (i.e., a separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts) to 
report its financial position and the results of its operations. Fund accounting is designed to 
demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions related to 
certain governmental functions or activities. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The Authority's operating fund, an internal services fund, is accounted for on the economic resources 
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and liabilities associated with the 
operation of the fund are included on the statement of net position. Internal service fund operating 
statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total position. 
 
Budgetary Control 
 
A detailed budget is presented to the Authority Board for approval on an annual basis. 
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Financial Analysis 
 
As the following table demonstrates, the Authority’s position exceeded its liabilities by $17,420,422 
at September 30, 2023. The entire balance of the net position is unrestricted and may be used to meet 
the Authority’s ongoing obligations. 
 

 2023 2022 
Assets   
  Cash and cash equivalents $     988,278 $     686,392 
  Investments 39,268,631 37,837,680 
  Restricted investments 4,526,290 4,749,256 
  Other assets 594,982 534,258 
   
Total assets 45,378,181 43,807,586 
   
Liabilities   
  Unpaid claims 22,036,595 17,083,388 
  Due to Ottawa County 3,671,164 3,650,546 
   
Total liabilities 25,707,759 20,733,934 
   
Net position - unrestricted $19,670,422 $23,073,652 
   

Together, cash and unrestricted investments increased by $1,732,837. Cash and unrestricted 
investment balances at year-end are at a point in time, so fluctuations within the category are not 
unusual and may reflect various transactions in process.  
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Net position increased primarily due to the increase in investment values experienced during the year 
ended September 30, 2023.  Detailed information on revenues expenses and changes in net position 
follows. 
 

 2023 2022 
Revenues   
  Loss premium  $  2,707,227 $  2,372,940 
  Other revenues 54,841 160,892 
Total operating revenues 2,762,068 2,533,832 
   
Operating expenses   
  Claims and related expenses 8,575,366 4,719,416 
  Risk management and other 438,324 419,335 
Total operating expenses 9,013,690 5,138,751 
   
Operating income (loss) (6,251,622) (2,604,919) 
   
Nonoperating revenue   
  Investment income 1,066,850 1,654,174 
  Investment gain (loss) realized   
    and unrealized  2,840,116 (9,673,012) 
Total nonoperating revenue 3,906,966 (8,018,838) 
   
Income (loss) before transfers (2,344,656) (10,623,757) 
   
Transfer to Ottawa County (1,058,574) (2,082,688) 
   
Change in net position (3,403,230) (12,706,445) 
   
Net position, beginning of year 23,073,652 35,780,097 
   
Net position, end of year $19,670,422 $23,073,652 
   

Revenues:  Revenues totaled $6,669,034 for the year ended September 30, 2023.  While the 
Authority’s investment strategy focuses on core fundamentals it has historically outperformed 
benchmarks.  While the Federal Reserve has increased the interest rates recently resulting in additional 
investment income, the market has seen a decline due to the overall slowing of the economy resulting 
in significant losses in the current year. 
  
Loss premiums represent charges to Authority members for insurance coverage.  These revenues cover 
both the payments made to insurance carriers for excess coverage as well as the actuarially determined 
cost for the self-insured retentions.   
 
Expenses:  Expenses totaled $9,013,690 for the year ended September 30, 2023. The unpaid claims 
liability increased by $4,953,207 which was primarily due to several large claims during the year. 
Claims and legal expenses can vary significantly by year depending on settlements.   
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Changes in Net Position 
 
Total expenses exceeded total revenues by $2,344,656 for the year ended September 30, 2023.  
$1,058,574 was transferred to Ottawa County in 2023 to assist with debt service and risk management 
costs resulting in a decrease in net position of $3,403,230. 
 
Member Assessment and Base Allocation 
 
The allocation of assessments among members is based upon an exposure base determined by 
operating expenditures and unit measurements for property/liability. 
 
Pension Funds 
 
The Authority has no employees; as such, it contracts for all administrative, accounting, and financial 
reporting services with Ottawa County and other outside entities. 
 
Cash Management 
 
The Authority's investment policy, approved by its Board of Directors, has the objective of pursuing 
an optimum rate of return without sacrificing safety on available assets not required for current 
operating needs while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet cash flow needs. Specific investments 
are made in accordance with the Authority’s investment policy, which conforms to the guidelines 
established for investment of public funds by the Michigan Revised Statutes. 
 
As of September 30, the Authority's cash and investment portfolio was comprised of the following: 
 

 2023 
  
Debt securities $  6,153,262 
Debt securities - restricted 4,526,290 
Mutual funds 12,566,521 
Exchange Trade Funds 19,801,482 
Land 747,366 
Cash and cash equivalents   
(including outstanding checks of 
$104,067) 

 
 

1,092,345 
  
Total  $44,887,266 

 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances for all those 
with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided 
in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to: Karen Karasinski, 
Fiscal Services Director, 12220 Fillmore Street, Room 331, West Olive, Michigan, 49460. 
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 988,278$       686,392$       
Investments 39,268,631    37,837,680    
Restricted investments 4,526,290      4,749,256      
Accrued interest receivable 40,722           51,297           
Due from county -                     3,600             
Due from others -                     5,303             
Prepaid insurance 554,260         474,058         

Total current assets 45,378,181    43,807,586    

Current liabilities
Unpaid claims liabilities 22,036,595    17,083,388    
Due to Ottawa County 3,671,164      3,650,546      

Total current liabilities 25,707,759    20,733,934    

Net position - unrestricted 19,670,422$  23,073,652$  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022
Operating revenues

Loss premium revenues    2,707,227$   2,372,940$   
Insurance recoveries and other revenues    54,841         160,892        

Total operating revenues 2,762,068    2,533,832     

Operating expenses
Claims and related expenses

Claims and legal expenses paid   2,605,169    1,454,260     
Increase (decrease) in unpaid claims liabilities   4,953,207    2,480,881     
Excess insurance expense   1,016,990    784,275        

Risk management and other expenses
Risk management, administrative   

services and other expenses   303,469       267,498        
Investment management fees   134,855       151,837        

Total operating expenses 9,013,690    5,138,751     

Operating income (loss) (6,251,622)  (2,604,919)   

Nonoperating revenues
Investment revenue  1,066,850    1,654,174     
Investment gain (loss) realized and unrealized 2,840,116    (9,673,012)   

Total nonoperating revenues 3,906,966    (8,018,838)   

Income (loss) before transfers   (2,344,656)  (10,623,757)  

Amount paid to Ottawa County (1,058,574)    (2,082,688)    

Change in net position (3,403,230)  (12,706,445)  

Net position, beginning of year 23,073,652  35,780,097   

Net position, end of year 19,670,422$ 23,073,652$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities   

Loss premiums collected 2,707,227$      2,372,940$    
Insurance recoveries and other revenues collected 63,744            195,272         
Custodial funds received (paid) 69,142            (81,528)          
Claims and related expenses paid (2,605,169)      (1,454,260)     
Administration and other expenses paid (1,584,040)      (1,370,250)     

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (1,349,096)      (337,826)        

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities   
Amount paid to Ottawa County (1,058,574)      (2,082,688)     

Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchase of investments (21,091,959)    (13,484,706)   
Proceeds from sale and redemption

of investments 22,724,090     14,158,588    
Investment income received 1,077,425       1,638,942      

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 2,709,556       2,312,824      

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    301,886          (107,690)        

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 686,392          794,082         

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 988,278$         686,392$      

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash   
   provided by operating activities   

Operating income (loss) (6,251,622)$     (2,604,919)$   
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)

to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
(Increase) decrease in prepaid insurance (80,202)           (141,193)        
(Increase) decrease in due from Ottawa County 3,600               39,683           
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 5,303               (5,303)            
Increase (decrease) in unpaid claims liabilities 4,953,207       2,480,881      
Increase (decrease) in due to Ottawa County 20,618            (106,975)        

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   (1,349,096)$     (337,826)$     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
  The financial statements of the Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority (the Authority) have been 

prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to 
governmental entities. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted 
standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. 

 
    Reporting Entity 
 
        The Authority was organized for the purpose of providing insurance coverage and risk management 

and related services to participating public entities pursuant to State of Michigan Act No. 36 of the 
Public Acts of 1988. 

 
        The Authority was formed by Ottawa County and the Ottawa County Building Authority, the original 

participating public entities. Additional public entities may be admitted by unanimous vote of all current 
participating public entities. Presently, no additional public entities have applied or been admitted for 
participation. The Authority generally insures participant liability and property risk based on annual 
coverage agreements.  

 
        The Authority is governed by a Board consisting of one appointed and four elected officials of Ottawa 

County and one elected or appointed official from each other participating public entity. 
 
        The Authority is a blended component unit of Ottawa County. Accordingly, the Authority’s financial 

statements are included in the County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. The Authority is 
considered to be a component unit of the County because the County has the ability to significantly 
influence operations and has accountability for fiscal matters. 

 
        In 1992, the Authority issued its first indemnity contracts to participating public entities and accordingly 

began collecting premiums, processing and adjusting claims, and paying losses. Prior to 1992, the 
Authority’s activity was limited to investment of the original capital contributions from Ottawa County 
and recording related investment income and fees.  

  
 Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation 
 

The Authority’s operating fund, an internal service fund (a type of proprietary fund), is reported using 
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are 
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the related 
cash flows.   
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with a proprietary fund’s 
principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the Authority are member insurance 
premiums. Operating expenses include the cost of claims, risk management and administration. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. 

 
    Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
        Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of money market mutual funds and are carried at fair 

value. 
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

    Amounts Due to/from Primary Government 
 
        During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between the Authority and Ottawa 

County for goods provided and services rendered. These payables/receivables are classified as due 
to/from Ottawa County on the statement of net position. 

 
Prepaid Insurance 
 

 Certain payments to vendors represent insurance costs applicable to future accounting periods and 
are recorded as prepaid insurance in the financial statements.  
 

 Unpaid Claims Liabilities 
 
        The Authority records unpaid claims liabilities based on estimates of the ultimate cost of claims, 

including future claim adjustment expenses, that have been reported but not settled, and of claims that 
have been incurred but not reported. Because actual claims costs depend on such complex factors as 
inflation, damage awards and changes in legal liability doctrines, the process used in computing claims 
liabilities does not necessarily result in an exact amount, particularly for coverages such as general 
liability. Claims liabilities are (or will be) recomputed periodically using a variety of actuarial and 
statistical techniques to produce current estimates that reflect recent settlements, claims frequency 
and other economic and societal factors. Adjustments to claims liabilities are charged or credited to 
expense in the periods in which they are made. 

 
2.   DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
    The Authority’s investments with the exception of money market funds are held in a trust account at 

local banks. Public Act 218 of 1956 (the Insurance Code of 1956) establishes asset requirements for 
domestic insurers. Qualified assets as defined thereunder include investments in domestic and foreign 
stocks, bonds, and other indebtedness of solvent corporations as approved by the insurer’s governing 
body entrusted with its investments, subject to certain percentage of portfolio limitations. Generally, 
the statute does not prohibit investments in any asset otherwise permitted to be held by any other 
person or corporation under Michigan laws. All of the Authority’s investments comply with State 
statutes.  

 
 Custodial Credit Risk. The Authority’s cash and cash equivalents consist of money market funds that 

amounted to $1,092,345 and $686,392 at September 30, 2023 and 2022 (before considering 
outstanding checks), respectively. The money market funds are rated AAAm by S&P and are not 
subject to custodial risk categorization because they are not evidenced by a specific security. At 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Authority did not have any custodial credit risk on its remaining 
investments.  
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

    The cost and estimated fair values of unrestricted investments in debt securities, mutual funds and 
real estate at September 30, are summarized as follows: 

  Unrealized  
 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 
2023     
Debt securities     
   Federal agency mortgage-backed $       32,329      $            -  $       3,231 $       29,098 
   U.S. Treasury notes 1,865,865 - 22,646 1,843,219 
   Asset-backed securities 738,238 - 30,575 707,663 
   Corporate notes 3,796,593 - 223,311 3,573,282 
Land 747,366 - - 747,366 
Mutual funds     
   Bond 11,811,177 - 1,831,364 9,979,813 
   Equity 2,795,632 - 208,924 2,586,708 
Exchange-traded funds     
   Bond 1,119,626 - 159,964 959,662 
   Equity 18,022,502 819,318 - 18,841,820 
     
Total $40,929,328 $819,318 $2,480,015 $39,268,631 
     
  Unrealized  
 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 
2022     
Debt securities     
   Federal agency mortgage-backed $       45,875      $        -  $       4,051 $       41,824 
   U.S. Treasury notes 2,846,389 - 157,868 2,688,521 
   Asset-backed securities 1,456,164 - 55,256 1,400,908 
   Commercial paper 247,973 1,214 - 249,187 
   Corporate notes 4,176,801 - 314,439 3,862,362 
Land 747,366 - - 747,366 
Mutual funds     
   Bond 9,475,190 - 1,555,729 7,919,461 
   Equity 3,674,080 - 677,074 2,997,006 
   Other 2,638,741 - 450,892 2,187,849 
Exchange-traded funds     
   Bond 1,614,761 - 280,104 1,334,657 
   Equity 16,272,536 - 1,863,997 14,408,539 
     
Total $43,195,876 $1,214 $5,359,410 $37,837,680 

 
The calculation of realized gains and losses is independent of the calculation of net change in the fair 
value of investments. Unrealized gains and losses on investments sold in the current year that had 
been held for more than one year were included in the net change reported in the current and prior 
years. 
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

Interest Rate Risk. The Authority does not have an investment policy that limits investment maturities 
as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.  
 
The Authority had the following investments and maturities in debt securities ($2,122,910 of which 
are callable) as of September 30: 

   Investment Maturities (fair value by year) 

 Cost Fair Value 
Less than 

1 1-5 6-10 Over 10 
2023       

Federal agency mortgage-backed $       32,329 $       29,098 $               -  $      29,098   $              -    $          - 
U.S. Treasury notes 1,865,865 1,843,219 - 1,843,219 - - 
Asset-backed securities 738,238 707,663 - 707,663 - - 
Mutual funds - bonds 11,811,177 9,979,813 - 3,284,853 6,694,960 - 
Exchange-traded - bonds 1,119,626 959,662 - - 959,662 - 
Corporate notes 3,796,593 3,573,282 1,081,682 2,491,600 - - 
       
Total $19,363,828 $17,092,737 $1,081,682 $8,356,433 $7,654,622 $          - 
       

   Investment Maturities (fair value by year) 

 Cost Fair Value 
Less than 

1 1-5 6-10 Over 10 
2022       

Federal agency mortgage-backed $       45,875 $       41,824 $               -  $      41,824   $              -    $          - 
U.S. Treasury notes 2,846,389 2,688,521 - 2,688,521 - - 
Asset-backed securities 1,456,164 1,400,908 - 1,400,908 - - 
Mutual funds - bonds 9,475,190 7,919,461 - 4,058,481 3,860,980 - 
Exchange-traded - bonds 1,614,761 1,334,657 - 564,359 770,298 - 
Commercial Paper 247,973 249,187 249,187 - - - 
Corporate notes 4,176,801 3,862,362 122,377 3,739,985 - - 
       
Total $19,863,153 $17,496,920 $371,564 $12,494,078 $4,631,278 $          - 
       

 
Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counter-party to an investment will not fulfill 
its obligation. The Authority’s investment policy prohibits investments in notes or bonds rated below 
investment grade. As of September 30, 2023, the Authority’s investments in federal agency mortgage-
backed securities, federal agency collateralized mortgage obligations, federal agency notes and U.S. 
Treasury notes were rated Aaa by Moody’s. Asset-backed securities were rated AAA by S&P and/or 
Aaa by Moody’s. Bond Mutual funds of $1,861,501 and $8,118,312 were rated three stars, and four 
stars, respectively, by Morning Star. Exchange-traded bond funds of $959,662 were rated 3 stars by 
Morning Star.   
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

The Authority’s investments in corporate notes were rated by Moody’s as follows (unless otherwise 
noted): 

  
AAA $   179,937     
AA3 260,456 
AA2 68,886 
AA1 - 
A3 416,893 
A2 1,061,045 
A1 1,100,676 
BAA2 171,704 
BAA1 313,685 
  
 $3,573,282 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk. Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude 
of the Authority’s investment in a single issuer. The Authority’s investment policy stipulates that 
investment managers may not invest more than 5% of the domestic equity, international equity or fixed 
income portfolio assets in the securities of one issuer at time of purchase, nor in more than 5% of the 
outstanding securities of one issuer. Excluding U.S. government guaranteed investments, mutual 
funds and pooled investments, the Authority had no investment in a single issuer that exceeded 5% 
of total investments at September 30, 2023. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in the exchange rates will 
adversely affect the fair value of an investment or deposit. The Authority’s investment policy permits 
investing in foreign publicly held stocks, mutual funds, ETFs and other pooled investments. At 
September 30, 2023, the Authority had international equity mutual funds with a total fair market value 
of $1,872,121 and international equity exchange traded funds with a total fair market value of 
$5,311,940. 
 
The Authority categorizes its fair value measurements of investments within the fair value hierarchy 
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation 
inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs. 
 
The Authority has the following recurring fair value measurements as of September 30, 2023: 

 
• The money market accounts, bond funds and equity mutual funds are valued using quoted 

market prices (Level 1 inputs).  
 

• The debt securities are valued using a pricing model utilizing observable fair value measures 
of fund/pool investments and other observable inputs to determining the fair value of the 
securities making up the of investments fund/pool (Level 2 inputs). 

 
• The Authority investments in real estate are valued based on significant unobservable inputs 

(Level 3 inputs). 
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

3. RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS 
 

In 1998, to comply with Michigan Insurance Bureau regulations, the Authority transferred certain 
investments – i.e., U.S. Treasury Notes – to the Michigan Department of Treasury as security for the 
benefit of the Authority’s policyholders. As these investments mature, they are replaced with 
comparable investments to maintain a face value balance of $5.0 million. Such investments held by 
the State Treasurer as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, are as summarized below. 
 

   Maturity  Interest        Face               Fair Value 
      Description      Date     Rate       Value        2023        2022 
      
U.S. Treasury Notes 12/31/2022     2.125%   $1,360,000   $              -   $1,355,644 
U.S. Treasury Notes 05/31/2023     1.625%     1,390,000                   -     1,367,630 
U.S. Treasury Notes 06/30/2024     2.000%        470,000        457,998        451,934 
U.S. Treasury Notes 12/31/2025     0.375%     1,780,000     1,608,773     1,574,048 
U.S. Treasury Notes 07/31/2026     0.625%     2,350,000     2,091,597                   - 
U.S. Treasury Notes 11/15/2026     2.000%        400,000        367,922                   - 
      
Total      $4,526,290   $4,749,256 

 
4. PREPAID INSURANCE 
 

Prepaid insurance is made up of the following balance for the years ended September: 
 

   2023 2022 
   
Property $  78,064 $  73,000 
General liability 366,694 268,940 
Other 109,502 132,118 
   
Total  $554,260 $474,058 

 
5. CUSTODIAL FUNDS MANAGEMENT 

 
Pursuant to an interpretation of State statutes by the Michigan Insurance Bureau (MIB), the Authority 
discontinued coverage of workers compensation claims effective January 1, 1996. The MIB allowed, 
however, that the Authority could continue to manage the monies of the County’s self-insured workers 
compensation fund in a custodial capacity provided that it: (1) did not cover or process claims; and (2) 
maintained sufficient deposits and/or investments of such a character and level to otherwise comply 
with State investment statutes for local governments. The Authority complied with these stipulations 
for 2023 and 2022. 
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

6. UNPAID CLAIMS LIABILITIES 
 
    As discussed in Note 1, the Authority establishes a liability for both reported and unreported insured 

events, which includes estimates of both future payments of losses and related claim adjustment 
expenses. The following represents changes in those aggregate liabilities for the Authority during the 
years ended September 30: 
    2023 2022 
Unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses at the    
 beginning of the year $17,083,388 $14,602,507 
    
Incurred claims and claim adjustment expenses (undiscounted)   
 Provision for insured events of the current year 9,045,900 4,173,237 
 Increase (decrease) in provision for insured events of prior years (1,487,524) (238,096) 
Total incurred claims and claim adjustment expenses 7,558,376 3,935,141 
    
Payments   
 Claims and claim adjustment expenses attributable to insured    
    events of the current year 401,529 227,214 
 Claims and claim adjustment expenses attributable to insured    
    events of the prior year 2,203,640 1,227,046 
Total payments 2,605,169 1,454,260 
    
Total unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses at the   
 end of the year $22,036,595 $17,083,388 
 
In 1996, upon advice of legal counsel and its actuary, the Authority established a liability for certain 
uninsured exposures (i.e., exposures excluded from commercially purchased policies and, generally, 
not subject to readily available policies in the market), including environmental impairment and 
remediation, employment relations, and defense of non-monetary claims. At September 30, 2023 the 
amount of this liability, which is included in the totals above, was $10,500,000. In 2022, the amount of 
this liability was $8,000,000.  The confidence level utilized for the calculation of the liability for insured 
incurred but not reported claims, which is included in the total above, was 95% in 2023 and 95% in 
2022. 
 

7. EXCESS INSURANCE 
 
   The Authority engages in no reinsurance transactions and therefore there are no premiums ceded or 

losses recoverable which will affect the Authority’s balance sheet. The Authority purchases excess 
insurance in the names of the County of Ottawa; Ottawa County Building Authority; County of Ottawa, 
Office of the Public Defender; and Ottawa County, Michigan Insurance Authority. Losses which exceed 
the excess insurance policy deductibles or retention are paid by the excess insurers on behalf of each 
covered entity. There are no losses or claims expenses recoverable from an excess insurer which will 
affect the Authority’s statement of net position. 

  
 A schedule of excess insurance follows:  

   Retention/ 
COVERAGE YEAR Limits Deductible 
Excess General/Automobile/Public Officials Liability   
                                      4/1/18 – 4/1/21  $10,000,000* $1,000,000^ 
                                      4/1/19 – 4/1/22 
                                      4/1/22 – 4/1/23 

10,000,000* 
5,000,000* 

1,000,000^ 
1,000,000^ 
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

COVERAGE YEAR  Retention/ 
Excess General/Automobile Liability Limits Deductible 
 4/1/09 – 4/1/14 

4/1/14 – 4/1/19 
11,000,000* 

    5,000,000* 
1,000,000^ 

  1,000,000^ 
 4/1/20 – 4/1/22 

4/1/22 – 4/1/23 
10,000,000* 

5,000,000* 
1,000,000^ 
1,000,000^ 

 4/1/23 – 4/1/24 5,000,000* 1,500,000^ 
Excess Public Officials Liability   
 4/1/11 – 4/1/14 11,000,000* 1,000,000^ 
                                       4/1/14 – 4/1/18     5,000,000*   1,000,000^ 
                                       4/1/18 – 4/1/22 
                                       4/1/22 – 4/1/23 

    1,000,000* 
   5,000,000+ 

  1,000,000^ 
  1,000,000^ 

                                       4/1/23 – 4/1/24 5,000,000+ 1,500,000^ 
Lawyers Professional Liability (Public Defender)   
                                      11/1/18 – 4/1/24 2,000,000 5,000 
Second Layer Excess Liability   
              4/1/14 – 4/1/18 5,000,000* 5,000,000 
                                      4/1/18 – 4/1/19 5,000,000* 5,000,000 
                                      4/1/23 – 4/1/24 5,000,000* 6,500,000 
Automobile Liability   
 4/1/10 – 4/1/18 500,000 25,000 
 4/1/18 – 4/1/22 500,000 20,000 
 4/1/22 – 4/1/24 1,000,000 20,000 
Property   
 4/1/15 – 4/1/16 138,600,000 50,000 
 4/1/16 – 4/1/17 137,000,000 50,000 
 4/1/17 – 4/1/18 138,200,000 50,000 
 4/1/18 – 4/1/19 141,700,000 50,000 
 4/1/20 – 4/1/22 

4/1/22 – 4/1/23 
150,100,000 
197,500,000 

50,000 
50,000 

 4/1/23 – 4/1/24 211,100,000 50,000 
Public Employee Dishonesty   
 4/1/11 – 4/1/13 1,000,000 25,000 
 4/1/13 – 4/1/18 2,000,000 25,000 
 4/1/18 – 4/1/22 

4/1/22 – 4/1/24 
3,000,000 
1,000,000 

100,000 
25,000 

Privacy Liability   
 4/1/16 – 4/1/12 1,000,000* 25,000 
Breach Policy    
 4/1/22 – 4/1/24 1,000,000 50,000 
Governmental Crime   
 4/1/22 – 4/1/24 3,000,000 100,000 
    
* Per occurrence and policy year aggregate. Policy year aggregate limit not applicable to automobile 
liability. 
+ Per occurrence, policy year aggregate of $10,000,000. 
^ Per occurrence for general and public official’s liability. $1,000,000 per accident for auto liability. 
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY 
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County) 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

  
 

 
 

8. PREMIUM DEFICIENCY 
 
    The Authority has determined that a premium deficiency did not exist at September 30, 2023 or 2022. 

The Authority considered anticipated investment income in making this determination. 
 

 * * * * * *
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1986 to
1991  (A)  1992  1993  1994 (C)  1995  1996 (D) 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Loss premium and investment revenues -$                 1,229,319$   1,441,923$   1,530,430$   1,831,066$   1,272,013$   1,326,315$   1,414,804$   1,527,955$   1,437,975$   1,552,616$   1,657,986$   1,885,825$   2,090,638$   2,126,231$   

Estimated incurred claims and allocated loss 
 adjustment expenses, end of policy year 1,070,247     455,251        349,515        794,982        799,613        2,643,981     741,416        862,448        1,071,908     1,996,252     1,652,919     1,514,478     1,225,971     1,655,863     1,833,338     

Paid (cumulative) as of:
    End of policy year 252,746        23,521          21,375          98,563          41,243          61,374          57,888          77,872          58,601          172,327        101,158        182,395        93,623          95,865          156,961        
    1 year later 507,387        68,883          59,536          138,363        71,981          71,898          79,905          91,517          66,842          196,873        164,777        249,749        154,455        180,123        222,798        
    2 years later 656,630        73,381          71,570          137,679        97,801          117,670        87,692          103,579        70,968          224,385        184,120        235,167        150,034        192,769        228,298        
    3 years later 700,369        89,334          77,205          139,078        105,031        384,542        90,371          117,208        64,777          285,881        166,367        246,397        169,905        242,003        232,894        
    4 years later 722,260        94,217          83,526          140,038        150,782        385,509        90,875          117,620        66,800          180,017        173,403        262,037        259,135        257,563        245,492        
    5 years later 744,069        93,512          84,926          141,781        158,222        386,013        90,745          117,620        57,360          186,700        173,403        276,018        259,135        304,629        245,492        
    6 years later 764,453        93,512          84,926          143,526        158,222        415,256        90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        299,784        259,135        304,629        245,492        
    7 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        429,900        90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        308,745        259,135        304,629        245,492        
    8 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        434,514        90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        313,718        259,135        304,629        245,492        
    9 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        441,407        90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        313,857        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    10 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,767,749     90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        322,283        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    11 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,815,330     90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        327,386        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    12 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,826,174     90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        329,538        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    13 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,835,152     90,745          117,620        57,360          635,342        173,403        334,561        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    14 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,835,152     90,745          117,620        57,360          641,555        173,403        334,771        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    15 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,835,152     90,745          117,620        57,360          643,595        173,403        337,871        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    16 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          646,913        173,403        338,516        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    17 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          647,665        173,403        338,516        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    18 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          650,524        173,403        338,516        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    19 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          650,524        173,403        338,516        259,135        304,629        
    20 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          652,478        173,403        338,516        259,135        
    21 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          656,086        173,403        338,516        
    22 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          657,046        173,403        
    23 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,837,516     90,745          117,620        57,360          657,046        
    24 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,837,516     90,745          117,620        57,360          
    25 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,837,516     90,745          117,620        
    26 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,837,516     90,745          
    27 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,837,516     
    28 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        
    29 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        
    30 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          
    31 years later 764,027        93,512          

32 years later 764,027        

Reestimated incurred claims and
 allocated loss adjustment expense:
    End of policy year (B)    455,251        349,515        794,982        799,613        2,643,981     741,416        862,448        1,071,908     1,996,252     1,652,919     1,514,478     1,225,971     1,655,863     1,833,338     
    1 year later 1,070,247     388,570        570,120        636,861        578,395        2,979,058     583,280        799,686        418,396        1,942,279     1,051,239     1,019,798     928,333        1,066,205     1,203,650     
    2 years later 1,325,209     423,155        441,538        419,920        824,159        3,219,787     327,674        315,906        194,754        1,971,751     798,503        523,070        581,124        839,080        299,178        
    3 years later 1,049,161     323,678        270,749        346,321        391,195        2,711,301     90,626          117,344        64,924          2,145,689     166,527        501,818        436,895        558,084        348,762        
    4 years later 1,106,021     238,143        228,001        308,928        209,335        3,825,063     91,824          117,620        66,800          1,982,949     173,403        370,113        259,135        593,604        345,492        
    5 years later 1,009,591     207,629        84,926          157,588        158,222        3,739,534     90,745          117,620        57,360          2,004,087     173,403        384,093        359,135        439,170        346,124        
    6 years later 896,448        93,512          84,926          183,084        158,222        4,690,352     90,745          117,620        57,360          1,483,802     173,403        399,784        359,135        405,315        346,134        
    7 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          162,955        158,222        6,372,578     90,745          117,620        57,360          1,443,389     273,403        471,945        359,135        404,629        345,492        
    8 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        6,422,465     90,745          117,620        57,360          945,216        273,403        413,718        359,135        404,629        345,492        
    9 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,541,852     90,745          117,620        157,360        729,066        273,403        413,857        359,135        404,629        348,318        
    10 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,527,735     90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        322,283        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    11 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        3,598,057     90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        327,386        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    12 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        1,926,174     90,745          117,620        57,360          629,066        173,403        329,538        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    13 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        3,835,152     90,745          117,620        57,360          635,342        173,403        334,561        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    14 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        3,835,152     90,745          117,620        57,360          641,555        173,403        334,771        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    15 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        3,835,152     90,745          117,620        57,360          643,595        173,403        337,871        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    16 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        3,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          646,913        173,403        338,516        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    17 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        3,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          647,665        173,403        338,516        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    18 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        3,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          650,524        173,403        338,516        259,135        304,629        248,318        
    19 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        3,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          650,524        173,403        338,516        259,135        304,629        
    20 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          652,478        173,403        338,516        259,135        
    21 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          656,086        173,403        338,516        
    22 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,836,616     90,745          117,620        57,360          657,046        173,403        
    23 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,837,516     90,745          117,620        57,360          657,046        
    24 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,837,516     90,745          117,620        57,360          
    25 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,837,516     90,745          117,620        
    26 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,837,516     90,745          
    27 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        4,837,516     
    28 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        158,222        
    29 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          161,129        
    30 years later 764,027        93,512          84,926          
    31 years later 764,027        93,512          

32 years later 764,027        

Increase (decrease) in estimated incurred
 claims and allocated loss adjustment
 expense from end of policy year -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

(A)   Claims and loss adjustment expenses and payments for the six-year period prior to 1992, which was the first year that the Authority issued
             insurance contracts, are included for actuarial purposes in the calculation of total unpaid claims and loss adjustment expenses.

(B)   Amount is not readily determinable.

(C)   The Authority confidence level utilited for purposes of actuarial valuation of estimated losses was; 53% from 1986 through 1993, 99% from 1994 through 2010 and 75% for 2011 through 2021 and 95% for 2022 through current.

OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY  
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

SUPPLEMENTAL CLAIMS DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION
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2006 2007 2008 (E) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 (F) 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

2,312,552$   2,164,142$   2,151,969$   2,100,783$   2,181,668$   2,223,058$   2,127,717$    2,228,561$   2,218,971$   2,309,633$   1,711,783$   2,387,248$   2,657,358$   2,785,830$   2,847,899$   2,992,587$   4,027,114$   3,774,077$   

1,899,010     1,770,128     2,980,985     2,745,396     2,474,752     2,335,886     2,357,641      2,433,488     2,443,479     2,685,047     2,215,723     2,837,976     2,922,144     3,065,000     3,499,822     5,577,333     4,173,237     10,508,400   

106,687        132,907        86,671          167,295        111,794        96,775          91,915           182,627        217,388        302,836        125,337        191,175        271,610        288,658        476,938        477,863        227,214        401,529        
139,761        168,107        119,459        235,093        140,529        155,723        151,873         212,635        241,709        325,071        180,604        360,751        365,790        417,443        569,437        904,683        575,821        
144,206        177,902        147,571        391,135        202,449        250,085        151,873         240,620        241,709        342,593        180,604        376,109        544,998        417,968        574,092        2,420,343     
144,820        200,577        150,791        403,048        219,279        327,898        151,873         332,522        264,209        342,593        201,992        396,591        560,326        429,958        609,784        
144,820        354,528        154,941        403,048        344,130        432,370        151,873         424,385        264,209        342,593        210,499        412,674        1,216,307     429,958        
144,820        394,486        154,941        403,048        344,130        456,784        151,873         540,683        264,209        342,593        234,914        412,674        1,222,553     
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        151,873         707,423        264,209        342,593        237,514        412,674        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        151,873         753,286        264,209        342,593        237,514        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        151,873         780,925        264,209        342,593        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        151,873         904,965        264,209        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        151,873         1,202,400     
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        151,873         
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        
144,820        394,961        154,941        
144,820        394,961        
144,820        

1,899,010     1,770,128     2,980,985     2,745,396     2,474,752     2,335,886     2,357,641      2,433,488     2,443,479     2,685,047     2,215,723     2,837,976     2,922,144     3,065,000     3,499,822     5,577,333     4,173,237     9,045,900     
1,165,083     1,858,503     1,805,286     1,866,680     1,446,516     1,570,616     1,124,261      1,682,071     1,177,185     1,626,092     1,550,076     2,290,035     1,945,221     1,975,943     2,321,490     6,541,530     3,683,878     

380,161        1,019,327     629,781        989,328        784,665        913,137        501,282         1,619,894     576,931        1,134,715     893,594        2,397,055     1,592,464     1,076,050     1,815,120     3,581,748     
254,442        1,041,329     349,866        512,990        808,470        970,967        316,945         1,561,472     632,674        868,356        954,417        2,105,671     999,448        949,880        1,282,167     
246,132        758,422        279,482        503,515        444,628        728,638        283,947         1,734,031     591,928        744,750        903,471        2,066,741     1,585,900     817,201        
245,488        494,486        254,941        503,048        444,130        556,784        451,873         1,811,828     575,741        691,541        544,566        779,559        4,202,442     
244,820        494,961        254,941        503,048        444,130        757,212        451,873         1,769,829     569,193        649,383        544,167        737,862        
244,820        494,961        254,941        503,048        644,130        757,212        451,873         1,575,890     566,133        647,001        540,006        
244,820        494,961        254,941        703,048        644,130        757,212        451,873         1,562,273     564,679        643,770        
244,820        494,961        454,941        703,048        644,130        757,212        451,873         1,996,525     564,277        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        151,873         2,056,723     
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        151,873         
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        457,212        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        344,130        
144,820        394,961        154,941        403,048        
144,820        394,961        154,941        
144,820        394,961        
144,820        

-                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                    60,198         (402)             (3,231)          (4,161)          (41,697)        2,616,542     (132,679)      (532,953)      (2,959,782)   (489,359)       9,045,900     

(D)   Beginning in 1996, includes provision for certain uninsured exposures:  environmental impairment, employment relations and defense of 
           non-monetary claims and excludes workers compensation coverage.

(E)   Beginning in 2008, the provision for certain uninsured exposures has been allocated across estimated claim years (previously reported in 1996 and 2000)

(F)   Data for 2016 presents information for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016
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General Liability  (A) Damage & Liability Property & Crime

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Unpaid claims and claim adjustment
 expenses, beginning of year/period 4,913,652$    4,086,626$    278,158$    46,471$      3,025,058$  1,984,240$  

Estimated incurred claims and claim
 adjustment expenses (undiscounted)
    Provisions for current year insured events 5,043,422      1,604,405      262,180      423,669      88,474         63,810         
    Increase (decrease) in provision for
      prior year insured events 1,136,356      121,718         (82,780)      64,594        (1,325,164)   1,275,595    

        Total estimated incurred claims
         and claim adjustment expenses 6,179,778      1,726,123      179,400      488,263      (1,236,690)   1,339,405    

Payments
  Claims and claim adjustment expenses
    attributable to current year insured events 122,708         42,998           247,108      152,133      31,713         32,083         
  Claims and claim adjustment expenses
    attributable to prior year insured events 436,207         856,099         189,054      104,443      1,578,379    266,504       

        Total payments 558,915         899,097         436,162      256,576      1,610,092    298,587       

Total unpaid claims and claim
 adjustment expenses, end of year 10,534,515$  4,913,652$    21,396$      278,158$    178,276$     3,025,058$  

(A)   Includes police and public officials liability coverage.

(B)   Includes environmental impairment liability, employment relations liability and defense of non-monetary claims.

Automobile/Boat

OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY  
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF UNPAID CLAIMS LIABILITIES

 FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 
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Medical Professional Sudden & Accidental
Liability Breakdown Uninsured Exposures (B) Totals

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

866,520$     485,170$    -$               -$               8,000,000$    8,000,000$   17,083,388$  14,602,507$  

426,824       481,353      -                 -                 3,225,000      1,600,000     9,045,900      4,173,237      

(490,936)      (100,003)    -                 -                 (725,000)        (1,600,000)   (1,487,524)     (238,096)        

(64,112)        381,350      -                 -                 2,500,000      -                   7,558,376      3,935,141      

-                   -                 -                 -                 -                     -                   401,529         227,214         

-                   -                 -                 -                 -                     -                   2,203,640      1,227,046      

-                   -                 -                 -                 -                     -                   2,605,169      1,454,260      

802,408$     866,520$    -$               -$               10,500,000$  8,000,000$   22,036,595$  17,083,388$  
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*** *** *** *** ***
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Operating revenues
Loss premium revenues 2,707,227$    2,372,940$    2,007,944$    1,832,643$          1,793,018$          
Insurance recoveries and other revenues 54,841          160,892       48,969          3,829                   119,216             

Total operating revenues 2,762,068      2,533,832      2,056,913      1,836,472            1,912,234            

Operating expenses
Claims and legal expenses paid 2,605,169      1,454,260      657,960         861,737               587,224               
Increase (decrease) in unpaid claims liability 4,953,207      2,480,881      1,495,069      302,199               1,187,804            
Excess insurance expense 1,016,990      784,275         549,262         440,380               422,520               
Risk management, administrative
 services and other expenses 303,469         267,498         229,162         264,161               193,155               
Investment management fees 134,855         151,837         153,476         118,320               141,620               

Total operating expenses 9,013,690      5,138,751      3,084,929      1,986,797            2,532,323            

Operating income (loss) (6,251,622)     (2,604,919)     (1,028,016)     (150,325)              (620,089)              

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Investment revenue 1,066,850      1,654,174      984,643         1,015,256            992,814               
Investment gain (loss) realized and unrealized 2,840,116      (9,673,012)     6,362,990      3,422,202            316,468               

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 3,906,966      (8,018,838)     7,347,633      4,437,458            1,309,282            

Income (loss) before transfers (2,344,656)     (10,623,757)   6,319,617      4,287,133            689,193               

Transfer to Ottawa County (1,058,574)     (2,082,688)     (2,674,281)     (276,375)              (691,708)              

Change in net position (3,403,230)     (12,706,445)   3,645,336      4,010,758            (2,515)                  

Net position, beginning of year/period 23,073,652    35,780,097    32,134,761    28,124,003          28,126,518          

Net position, end of year/period 19,670,422$  23,073,652$  35,780,097$  32,134,761$        28,124,003$        

* For the 12-month year ended December 31.

** For the 9-month period ended September 30.

*** For the 12-month year ended September 30.

EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
SUPPLEMENTAL COMPARATIVE SCHEDULE OF REVENUES,

(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)
OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY
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*** *** ** * *
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

1,787,140$          1,601,809$          1,234,097$       1,682,928$       1,670,960$       
72,687                 5,767                   8,157                 18,977             32,571             

1,859,827            1,607,576            1,242,254         1,701,905         1,703,531         

560,988               383,607               267,416            466,677            461,251            
631,929               2,397,853            929,353            369,798            212,544            
435,335               417,411               302,907            375,517            340,831            

467,048               249,911               177,312            216,780            212,248            
118,132               106,223               81,194               86,993               84,792               

2,213,432            3,555,005            1,758,182         1,515,765         1,311,666         

(353,605)              (1,947,429)           (515,928)           186,140            391,865            

870,218               785,439               477,686            626,705            548,011            
1,819,704            2,620,225            938,412            (11,200)             1,223,184         

2,689,922            3,405,664            1,416,098         615,505            1,771,195         

2,336,317            1,458,235            900,170            801,645            2,163,060         

(150,000)              (197,599)              (57,783)             (245,500)           (150,000)           

2,186,317            1,260,636            842,387            556,145            2,013,060         

25,940,201          24,679,565          23,837,178       23,281,033       21,267,973       

28,126,518$        25,940,201$        24,679,565$     23,837,178$     23,281,033$     
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Credit Interest Face Fair Face Fair
Rating Maturity Rate Value Cost Value Value Cost Value

FEDERAL AGENCY MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITY
FNMA POOL #AV0349 AAA 12/01/28 3.500% 30,414$          32,329$        29,098$        43,158$         45,875$         41,824$         

U.S. TREASURY NOTES 
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 12/31/25 0.375% 415,000         403,409         366,951         
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 04/30/26 0.750% 100,000         95,695           88,562           
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 04/30/26 0.750% 200,000         193,164         177,125         
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 07/31/26 0.625% 250,000         227,656         218,711         
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 07/31/26 0.625% 425,000         389,058         371,809         
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 07/31/26 0.625% 575,000         529,360         503,035         
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 07/31/26 0.625% 1,100,000      1,008,047      962,328         
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 07/31/27 2.750% 800,000          744,125        745,250        -                     -                     -                     
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 11/15/27 2.250% 525,000          483,369        477,422        -                     -                     -                     
US TREASURY NOTES AAA 01/31/28 3.500% 650,000          638,371        620,547        -                     -                     -                     

1,975,000       1,865,865     1,843,219     3,065,000      2,846,389      2,688,521      
ASSET-BACKED SECURITIES

BACCT 2021-A1 A AAA 09/15/26 0.440% 10,000            10,000          9,719            10,000           10,000           9,405             
BACCT 2023-A1 A AAA 05/15/28 4.790% 35,000            34,992          34,512          -                     -                     -                     
BMWLT 2021-1 A4 AAA 07/25/24 0.370% -                       -                     -                     30,000           29,999           29,165           
CARMX 2020-4 A4 AAA 06/15/26 0.630% 100,000          99,999          94,803          100,000         99,999           93,506           
CARMX 2021-1 A4 AAA 10/15/26 0.530% 50,000            49,997          46,604          50,000           49,997           46,273           
CARMX 2021-2 A3 AAA 02/17/26 0.520% 20,958            20,953          20,333          40,000           39,991           38,728           
GMALT 2021-1 A4 AAA 02/20/25 0.330% 25,000            24,995          23,579          30,000           29,995           29,281           
GMCAR 2021-1 A4 AAA 05/17/27 0.540% 25,000           24,995           23,252           
HART 2021-A A3 AAA 09/15/25 0.380% 10,861            10,860          10,647          25,000           24,997           24,133           
HAROT 2020-3 A4 AAA 04/19/27 0.460% 70,000            69,981          68,923          70,000           69,981           66,814           
HAROT 2021-2 A4 AAA 08/16/27 0.550% 125,000          124,990        117,995        125,000         124,990         115,042         
HDMOT 2021-A A3 AAA 04/15/26 0.370% 8,388              8,387            8,229            23,361           23,356           22,842           
JDOT 2021-A A3 AAA 09/15/25 0.360% 8,642              8,640            8,443            20,000           19,996           19,221           
NAROT 2021-A A3 AAA 10/15/25 0.330% 68,135            68,134          66,089          115,000         114,998         110,142         
NALT 2020-B A4 AAA 01/15/26 0.490% 125,000         124,972         123,452         
MBALT 2020-B A4 AAA 06/15/26 0.500% 100,000         99,987           98,412           
CCCIT 2018-A6 A6 AAA 12/07/24 3.210% 100,000         99,983           99,941           
CNH 2021-A A3 AAA 12/15/25 0.400% 17,943            17,939          17,426          35,000           34,992           33,567           
TAOT 2021-B A3 AAA 11/17/25 0.260% 67,716            67,709          65,851          125,000         124,987         119,722         
VZMT 2021-1 A AAA 05/20/27 0.500% 75,000            74,995          72,481          75,000           74,995           70,045           
VZOT 2020-B A AAA 02/20/25 0.470% 677                  677                674                87,994           87,975           86,708           
WOART 2018-D A4 AAA 12/15/24 3.440% 100,000         99,988           99,998           
WOART 2021-B A4 AAA 06/15/27 0.690% 45,000            44,990          41,355          45,000           44,990           41,259           

738,320          738,238        707,663        1,456,355      1,456,164      1,400,908      
COMMERCIAL PAPER

NATIXIS NY BRANCH COMM PAPER P-1 11/04/22 0.000% -                  -                -                250,000         247,973         249,187         

OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY   
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS - DEBT SECURITIES 

20222023

 SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 
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Credit Interest Face Fair Face Fair
Rating Maturity Rate Value Cost Value Value Cost Value

OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY   
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS - DEBT SECURITIES 

20222023

 SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2022 

CORPORATE NOTES
ABBVIE INC BAA2 11/14/23 3.750% -$                    -$                  -$                  75,000$         74,904$         74,196$         
AMAZON.COM INC CORP NOTES A1 06/03/25 0.800% 150,000          149,942        138,937        150,000         149,942         136,053         
AMERICAN EXPRESS CO A2 07/30/24 2.500% 100,000          99,678          97,276          100,000         99,678           95,769           
AMERICAN HONDA FINANCE A3 06/27/24 2.400% 100,000          99,775          97,489          100,000         99,775           96,086           
APPLE INC CORP AAA 02/08/26 0.700% 200,000          199,550        179,937        200,000         199,550         176,172         
ASTRAZENECA FINANCE LLS A3 05/28/26 1.200% 50,000            49,937          44,926          50,000           49,937           43,888           
AT&T INC BAA2 02/08/26 0.700% 50,000            50,000          49,509          -                     -                     -                     
BANK OF AMERICA CORP A2 10/24/26 1.197% 80,000            80,000          72,348          80,000           80,000           69,714           
BANK OF MONTREAL CORP A2 06/28/24 2.500% 175,000          174,976        170,615        175,000         174,976         167,790         
BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA A2 02/11/24 3.400% 175,000         174,841         171,594         
BANK OF NY MELLON CORP NOTES A1 01/26/27 2.050% 100,000          90,927          89,384          -                     -                     -                     
BANK OF NY MELLON CORP NOTES A1 07/24/26 4.414% 40,000            40,000          38,851          40,000           40,000           39,089           
BB&T CORPORATION A3 08/01/24 2.500% 100,000          99,916          96,942          100,000         99,916           95,762           
CANADIAN IMPERIAL BANK NY CORP A2 04/02/24 3.100% 150,000          149,196        147,686        150,000         149,196         145,932         
CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORP BAA1 01/29/24 3.900% 75,000            74,838          74,437          75,000           74,838           73,885           
CATERPILLAR FINANCIAL SERVICE CORP A2 01/08/27 1.700% 75,000            74,621          67,151          75,000           74,621           66,217           
CHARLES SCHWAB CORP A2 03/11/26 0.900% 75,000            74,908          66,467          75,000           74,908           65,305           
CHEVRON USA INC CORP AA2 08/12/25 0.687% 75,000            75,000          68,886          75,000           75,000           67,066           
CISCO SYSTEMS INC A1 06/15/25 3.500% 125,000          122,219        120,980        -                     -                     -                     
CITIGROUP CORP A3 05/15/24 1.678% 75,000           75,000           73,386           
CITIGROUP CORP CALLABLE A3 01/28/27 1.122% 80,000            80,000          71,266          80,000           80,000           68,408           
COMCAST CORP A3 11/15/27 5.350% 20,000            19,991          19,986          -                     -                     -                     
CVS HEALTH CORP BAA2 08/15/24 2.625% 75,000            74,614          72,924          75,000           74,614           72,040           
ELI LILLY & CO A1 02/27/26 5.000% 45,000            44,926          44,931          -                     -                     -                     
FIFTH THIRD BANK CORP NOTE BAA1 01/28/25 2.375% 80,000            79,978          75,976          80,000           79,978           74,530           
GENERAL MOTORS FINL CO BAA3 08/18/23 1.700% 50,000           49,952           48,503           
GLAXOSMITHKLINE CAPITAL CORPORATE NOTES A2 10/01/23 0.534% 50,000           50,000           47,969           
GOLDMAN SACHS GROUP A2 12/09/26 1.093% 75,000            75,000          66,776          75,000           75,000           64,773           
HONEYWELL INTL CORP NOTES A2 06/01/25 1.350% 70,000            69,993          65,545          70,000           69,993           64,392           
JOHN DEERE CAPITAL A2 03/08/27 2.350% 75,000            69,262          68,030          -                     -                     -                     
JOHNSON & JOHNSON CORP AAA 09/01/25 0.550% -                       -                     -                     200,000         199,782         179,048         
JP MORGAN CHASE CORP A2 07/15/25 3.900% 50,000            56,589          48,441          50,000           56,589           48,276           
JP MORGAN CHASE CORP A2 11/19/26 1.045% 100,000          100,000        89,289          100,000         100,000         86,421           
KEURIG DR PEPPER INC COROPORATE NOTES BAA1 03/15/24 0.750% 50,000            49,999          48,840          50,000           49,999           46,985           
MCCORMICK & CO BAA2 02/15/26 0.900% 55,000            54,855          49,271          55,000           54,855           47,662           
MCDONALD'S CORP BAA1 09/01/25 1.450% 75,000            74,862          69,376          75,000           74,862           68,078           
MERCK & CO INC A1 05/17/28 4.050% 25,000            24,980          23,982          -                     -                     -                     
MORGAN STANLEY CALLABLE A1 12/10/26 0.985% 75,000            75,000          66,838          75,000           75,000           64,689           
NATIONAL RURAL UTIL COOP A2 06/15/26 1.000% 100,000          99,743          89,007          100,000         99,743           87,266           
NATIONAL AUSTRALIA BK/NY AA3 06/09/27 3.905% 125,000          121,768        117,636        -                     -                     -                     
PACCAR FINANCIAL CORP A1 08/15/24 2.150% 100,000          99,779          97,045          100,000         99,779           95,631           
PROCTER & GAMBLE CO AA3 01/26/28 3.950% 125,000          124,871        120,476        -                     -                     -                     
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA CORP A1 01/20/26 0.875% 200,000          199,844        179,120        200,000         199,844         173,500         
SIMON PROPERTY GROUP LP A3 06/01/23 2.750% 75,000           74,864           73,874           
SIMON PROPERTY GROUP LP A3 09/13/24 2.000% 85,000            84,916          81,871          85,000           84,916           80,147           
TARGET CORP NOTES CALLABLE A2 01/15/27 1.950% 15,000            14,974          13,534          15,000           14,974           13,446           
TEXAS INSTRUMENTS INC CORP AA3 09/15/26 1.125% 25,000            25,000          22,344          25,000           25,000           21,957           
TORONTO DOMINION BANK CORP A1 06/12/24 2.650% 200,000         199,972         191,845         
TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORP A1 02/13/25 1.800% 25,000            25,348          23,746          25,000           25,348           23,351           
TOYOTA MOTOR CREDIT CORP A1 02/13/25 1.800% 50,000            50,489          47,493          50,000           50,489           46,702           
UNION PACIFIC CORP A3 02/21/26 4.750% 50,000            49,967          49,339          -                     -                     -                     
UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC A3 05/15/26 1.150% 75,000            74,869          67,475          75,000           74,869           66,156           
US BANCORP A2 07/30/24 2.400% 200,000         199,804         191,597         
VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS CORP BAA1 03/20/26 1.450% 50,000            49,901          45,056          50,000           49,901           44,157           
WALT DISNEY CORP A2 08/30/24 1.750% 100,000          99,592          96,557          100,000         99,592           94,514           
WELLS FARGO COMPANY A1 05/19/25 0.805% 20,000            20,000          19,291          20,000           20,000           18,541           

3,815,000       3,796,593     3,573,282     4,175,000      4,176,801      3,862,362      

6,558,734$     6,433,025$   6,153,262$   8,989,513$    8,773,202$    8,242,802$    
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY   

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS - MUTUAL FUNDS

Fair Fair
Shares Cost Value Shares Cost Value

MUTUAL FUNDS - BOND
VOYA INTERMEDIATE BOND-I 224,255     2,237,974$        1,859,077$        193,924     1,986,748$        1,642,540$        

BAIRD CORE PLUS BOND 342,172     3,796,821          3,284,853          249,235     2,867,518          2,422,566          

DOUBLELINE CORE FIXED INCOME 209,865     2,218,241          1,861,501          178,010     1,926,680          1,635,915          

PRUDENTIAL TOTAL RETURN 260,911     3,558,141          2,974,382          193,924     2,694,244          2,218,440          

11,811,177        9,979,813          9,475,190          7,919,461          

MUTUAL FUNDS - EQUITY 
HARDING LOEVNER INTERNATIONAL 20,342       586,580             488,816             42,256       1,126,315          883,568             
HRTFRD SCHR EM MRKT EQ-SDR 22,932       348,334             336,410             37,379       720,830             503,124             
JENSEN QUALITY GROWTH-Y 12,363       670,838             714,587             23,539       1,183,355          1,208,279          

JOHCM INTERNATIONAL SELECT I 23,770       642,880             507,966             22,663       643,580             402,035             

GOLDMAN SACHS GQG PTNERS INTL OPPS INSTL 29,891       547,000             538,929             -                 -                        -                        

2,795,632          2,586,708          3,674,080          2,997,006          
MUTUAL FUNDS - OTHER

COHEN & STEERS INST REALTY SHARES -                 -                        -                        15,168       747,140             636,277             
PIMCO COMMODITY REAL RETURN STRATEGY -                 -                        -                        178,074     1,150,809          918,860             
PRINCIPAL RE SECURITIES INST FUND -                 -                        -                        25,258       740,792             632,712             

-                        -                        2,638,741          2,187,849          
EXCHANGE-TRADE FUNDS - BONDS

ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 2,150         109,198             104,597             6,679         396,599             322,462             
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 305            18,038               14,838               321            18,511               15,498               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 405            22,959               19,703               305            18,038               14,725               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 406            23,138               19,752               1,421         83,171               68,606               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 1,421         83,171               69,132               1,515         76,250               73,144               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 1,515         76,250               73,705               405            22,959               19,553               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 6,679         396,599             324,933             406            23,138               19,602               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 321            18,511               15,617               -                 -                        -                        
ISHARES PREFERRED & INCOME SECURITIES -                 -                        -                        17,820       694,624             564,359             
ISHARES CORE U.S. AGGREGATE 506            50,281               47,584               1,764         201,360             169,944             
ISHARES CORE U.S. AGGREGATE 693            80,111               65,170               693            80,111               66,764               
ISHARES CORE U.S. AGGREGATE 1,764         201,361             165,887             -                 -                        -                        
ISHARES CORE U.S. AGGREGATE 412            40,009               38,744               -                 -                        -                        

1,119,626          959,662             1,614,761          1,334,657          
EXCHANGE-TRADE FUNDs - EQUITY

VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 10,315       541,641             552,059             2,318         150,160             106,095             
VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 2,318       150,160           124,059           7,090       451,137             324,509           
VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 2,893       162,587           154,833           1,433       80,262               65,588             
VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 25,459     1,493,679        1,362,566        27,402     1,607,675          1,254,190        
VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 7,090       451,137           379,457           10,315     541,641             472,118           
VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 2,893       163,541           154,833           -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 1,433       80,262             76,694             -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 20,031     1,035,002        1,072,059        -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 1,120       214,532           237,899           42,352     7,987,587          7,600,914        
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 1,676       328,781           355,999           1,120       214,532             201,006           
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 805          158,649           170,990           402          78,695               72,147             
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 375          74,842             79,654             -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 33,082     6,239,265        7,026,948        -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 374          74,142             79,441             -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 3,074       692,664           652,948           -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 402          78,695             85,389             -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD TOTAL STOCK MKT ETF 22,789     4,649,867        4,840,612        -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD FTSE ALL-WLD EX-S SMCP ETF 1,685       189,529           178,947           -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD FTSE ALL-WLD EX-S SMCP ETF 1,685       188,653           178,947           -                -                       -                      
VANGUARD FTSE DEVELOPED MARKETS ETF 5,273       209,233           230,536           7,110       354,856             258,520           
VANGUARD FTSE DEVELOPED MARKETS ETF 11,134     467,183           486,778           15,719     623,730             571,543           
VANGUARD FTSE DEVELOPED MARKETS ETF -               -                      -                      5,267       259,818             191,508           
VANGUARD FTSE DEVELOPED MARKETS ETF -               -                      -                      11,454     454,495             416,467           
INVESCO S&P 500 EQUAL WEIGHT ETF -               -                      -                      3,758       589,555             478,318           
INVESCO S&P 500 EQUAL WEIGHT ETF -               -                      -                      2,765       382,371             351,929           
INVESCO S&P 500 EQUAL WEIGHT ETF -               -                      -                      2,816       438,986             358,421           
ISHARES MSCI EMERGING MKTS EX CHINA 3,614       188,470           180,086           -                -                       -                      
ISHARES MSCI EMERGING MKTS EX CHINA 3,614       189,988           180,086           -                -                       -                      
ISHARES CORE S&P SMALL-CAP E -               -                      -                      1,448       155,298             126,251           
ISHARES CORE S&P SMALL-CAP E -               -                      -                      3,676       431,415             320,510           

2023 2022

(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2023
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OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY   

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS - MUTUAL FUNDS

Fair Fair
Shares Cost Value Shares Cost Value

MUTUAL FUNDS - BOND
VOYA INTERMEDIATE BOND-I 224,255     2,237,974$        1,859,077$        193,924     1,986,748$        1,642,540$        

BAIRD CORE PLUS BOND 342,172     3,796,821          3,284,853          249,235     2,867,518          2,422,566          

DOUBLELINE CORE FIXED INCOME 209,865     2,218,241          1,861,501          178,010     1,926,680          1,635,915          

PRUDENTIAL TOTAL RETURN 260,911     3,558,141          2,974,382          193,924     2,694,244          2,218,440          

11,811,177        9,979,813          9,475,190          7,919,461          

MUTUAL FUNDS - EQUITY 
HARDING LOEVNER INTERNATIONAL 20,342       586,580             488,816             42,256       1,126,315          883,568             
HRTFRD SCHR EM MRKT EQ-SDR 22,932       348,334             336,410             37,379       720,830             503,124             
JENSEN QUALITY GROWTH-Y 12,363       670,838             714,587             23,539       1,183,355          1,208,279          

JOHCM INTERNATIONAL SELECT I 23,770       642,880             507,966             22,663       643,580             402,035             

GOLDMAN SACHS GQG PTNERS INTL OPPS INSTL 29,891       547,000             538,929             -                 -                        -                        

2,795,632          2,586,708          3,674,080          2,997,006          
MUTUAL FUNDS - OTHER

COHEN & STEERS INST REALTY SHARES -                 -                        -                        15,168       747,140             636,277             
PIMCO COMMODITY REAL RETURN STRATEGY -                 -                        -                        178,074     1,150,809          918,860             
PRINCIPAL RE SECURITIES INST FUND -                 -                        -                        25,258       740,792             632,712             

-                        -                        2,638,741          2,187,849          
EXCHANGE-TRADE FUNDS - BONDS

ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 2,150         109,198             104,597             6,679         396,599             322,462             
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 305            18,038               14,838               321            18,511               15,498               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 405            22,959               19,703               305            18,038               14,725               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 406            23,138               19,752               1,421         83,171               68,606               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 1,421         83,171               69,132               1,515         76,250               73,144               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 1,515         76,250               73,705               405            22,959               19,553               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 6,679         396,599             324,933             406            23,138               19,602               
ISHARES INTERMEDIATE-TERM CO 321            18,511               15,617               -                 -                        -                        
ISHARES PREFERRED & INCOME SECURITIES -                 -                        -                        17,820       694,624             564,359             
ISHARES CORE U.S. AGGREGATE 506            50,281               47,584               1,764         201,360             169,944             
ISHARES CORE U.S. AGGREGATE 693            80,111               65,170               693            80,111               66,764               
ISHARES CORE U.S. AGGREGATE 1,764         201,361             165,887             -                 -                        -                        
ISHARES CORE U.S. AGGREGATE 412            40,009               38,744               -                 -                        -                        

1,119,626          959,662             1,614,761          1,334,657          
EXCHANGE-TRADE FUNDs - EQUITY

VANGUARD TOTAL INTL STOCK 10,315       541,641             552,059             2,318         150,160             106,095             

2023 2022

(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 and 2023

ISHARES CORE S&P SMALL-CAP E -               -                      -                      1,096       117,074             95,560             
ISHARES CORE S&P SMALL-CAP E -               -                      -                      1,421       152,004             123,897           
ISHARES CORE S&P SMALL-CAP E -               -                      -                      1,933       184,620             168,538           
ISHARES CORE S&P MIDCAP ETF -               -                      -                      1,008       236,173             221,014           
ISHARES CORE S&P MIDCAP ETF -               -                      -                      2,871       780,452             629,496           

18,022,502      18,841,820      16,480,673        18,681,859      

33,748,937$      32,368,003$      35,193,487$      39,045,364$      
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*** *** *** *** *** ***
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Total number of members 2                           2                           2                           2 2 2

Total employees 1,168                    1,186                    1,132                    1,119 1,143 863

Total annual payrolls 70,245,426$         59,329,865$         56,728,474$         56,332,049$ 53,342,832$ 50,366,334$     

Total member premiums 2,707,227$           2,372,940$           2,007,944$           1,832,643$   1,793,018$   1,787,140$       

Total number of claims 167                       197                       176                       173               171               150                   

Total reported losses 9,808,376$           3,935,141$           2,153,029$           1,163,936$   1,775,028$   1,192,917$       

* For the 12-month year ended December 31.

** For the 9-month period ended September 30.

*** For the 12-month year ended September 30.

OTTAWA COUNTY, MICHIGAN INSURANCE AUTHORITY   
(a Component Unit of Ottawa County)

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF MEMBER GROWTH ANALYSIS
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*** ** * *
2017 2016 2015 2014

2 2 2 2

865 847 926 926

50,366,334$   47,405,640$     50,039,266$     49,994,208$     

1,601,809$     1,234,097$       1,682,928$       1,670,960$       

121                 94                     138                   137                   

2,781,460$     1,196,769$       836,475$          673,795$          
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